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BRANCH DIVISION

We Build

Granite Construction
Founded in 1922, Granite Construction is one of the largest heavy-civil contractors in the United
States. Granite builds roads, bridges, dams and other transportation-related projects. In addition,
Granite is a major producer of sand, gravel, ready-mix and asphalt concrete and other road-building
and construction materials. Unique among large contractors, Granite handles both large and small
jobs through its two operating divisions, the Branch Division and the Heavy Construction Division.
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Resurfacing project on the main runway at Mather Airport, Sacramento, CA

H E AV Y C O N S T R U C T I O N D I V I S I O N

Arizona

Santa Barbara

National Office

4115 E. Illinois Street
Tucson, AZ 85714
(520) 748-8000

5335 Debbie Lane
Santa Barbara, CA 93111
(805) 964-9951

585 W. Beach Street
Watsonville, CA 95076
(831) 761-7500

Bakersfield

Southern California

Texas Regional Office

3000 James Road
Bakersﬁeld, CA 93308
(661) 399-3361

38000 Monroe Street
Indio, CA 92203
(760) 775-7500

701 E. Main Street
Lewisville, TX 75057
(972) 874-8724

Bay Area

Stockton

Southeast Regional Office

715 Comstock Street
Santa Clara, CA 95054
(408) 327-7000

10500 S. Harlan Road
French Camp, CA 95231
(209) 982-4750

6215 E. Sligh Avenue
Tampa, FL 33617
(813) 623-5877

Central Valley

Utah

Western Regional Office

2716 Granite Court
Fresno, CA 93706
(559) 441-5700

100 N. Warm Springs Road
Salt Lake City, UT 84116
(801) 526-6000

282 Cousteau Place, Suite 105
Davis, CA 95616
(530) 753-7234

Monterey Bay

Granite Halmar

580 W. Beach Street
Watsonville, CA 95076
(831) 763-6100

160 W. Lincoln Avenue
Mount Vernon, NY 10550
(914) 668-9500

A F F I L I AT E S

Nevada

Wilder Construction Company

1900 Glendale Avenue
Sparks, NV 89431
(775) 358-8792

1525 East Marine View Drive
Everett, WA 98201
(425) 551-3100

Northern California

Granite Land Company

4001 Bradshaw Road
Sacramento, CA 95827
(916) 855-4400

8950 Cal Center Drive, Suite 201
Sacramento, CA 95826
(916) 362-8844

For a complete listing of all affiliates,
please visit the Company’s website at
www.graniteconstruction.com.

Granite Construction is a company that builds. Building is
fundamental to our character as a company, it influences our
strategy and it drives our growth. We measure our progress
by the lasting improvements we build inside and outside
the company. Over our more than 80 years, we have built
thousands of infrastructure projects, from driveways to
superhighways, in the West and throughout the nation. We
were founded by principled leaders who built clear values
and leadership into the fabric of the company. While building
a financially sound company, thousands of people have built
long and productive careers at Granite. By being builders
first and last, we steadily work to build increasing value for
our shareholders.

Today, and everyday, We Build…
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We Build
Bill Dorey

Character

President and Chief Executive Officer

“Boldly contending for that which is right is the cornerstone upon which Granite has been built.
Our commitment to timeless values attracts people of every generation who embrace character
and incorporate fairness and integrity into all of their business dealings.”

Letter to Shareholders

Our 2004 year was highlighted by the contrasting financial results of our two primary

operating divisions, reinforcing our belief in the resiliency of our business model. Our Branch Division capitalized on
the robust private development market in the West and finished the year with a near-record financial performance.
In contrast, our Heavy Construction Division’s (“HCD”) financial results were very disappointing and were impacted
by the recognition of increased forecasted costs to complete several large projects in our backlog. While we were
pleased with our Branch Division performance, we were not satisfied with our overall company performance and
have been working diligently to ensure that the issues that contributed to the margin deterioration on the affected
large HCD projects are behind us.
Branch Division revenue increased to $1.3 billion, up 12% year over year, and operating income increased to
$106.0 million, up 15% from 2003. We view these results as a very positive sign considering that projects let by the
California Department of Transportation (“Caltrans”), which continues to be underfunded, and which traditionally
has been the Branch Division’s largest customer, amounted to only 6% of our total revenue, down from 9% in 2003
and 12% in 2002. Several years ago, the Branch Division embarked on a strategic course to achieve a more
diverse customer base, specifically to obtain a greater share of the private sector market. While we couldn’t have
foreseen that some states would have so severely cut transportation funding, or anticipated how robust the private
sector market would have become, this strategy has paid off handsomely. Our Branches are doing more local
agency work and private development work. In addition, our construction materials business, driven by the strong
private development market, is becoming a more important part of our business focus. We are pleased with how
our strategy has worked in a changing economic environment, but even more pleased to see how the branches
seized the opportunities that were available.
HCD operating income was $9.0 million, a decrease of $17.3 million compared with 2003. This reduction in operating

income resulted primarily from the recognition of lower than anticipated profitability resulting from the recognition
of write-downs or losses on several large projects. We are anticipating an improved performance from our HCD
business in 2005.
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Taken as a whole, our 2004 revenue increased to $2.1 billion,* which was a 16% increase year over year. Net income
was $57.0 million in 2004, a decrease of $3.5 million from 2003. We are committed to improving our financial
performance and we understand that in order to achieve that financial improvement, both of our operating divisions
must perform well at the same time. We are entering 2005 with the largest backlog in the history of both of our
divisions, which is contributing to our sense of optimism regarding our prospects for the year. We believe we have
an opportunity to deliver a solid performance in both operating divisions in 2005.
In particular, we are anticipating continued growth from our Branch Division’s construction materials business. We
are investing time, additional capital and key people into this business and we are convinced that these investments
will prove to be strong contributors to our success into the future.
We are committed to cutting our safety incident rate in half in 2005 as compared to 2003. We never take for granted
the fact that we are engaged in inherently dangerous work, involving heavy objects, large equipment and requiring
us to work near fast moving traffic. While our historical safety record is already well below the industry average, and
our trends are improving, we are not satisfied and intend to do even better. We will achieve our goal of cutting our
safety incident rate in half in 2005.
An important long-term driver of our business is the anticipated reauthorization of the Federal Highway Bill. After
almost two years of debate and delay, we expect to see a transportation funding bill passed in 2005. This is important
for our industry and for the public transportation agencies that depend on federal transportation funding. The
important work of maintaining our aging infrastructure and building new capacity to satisfy the needs of our growing
economy and population relies on this source of revenue. We believe that Congress and the Bush Administration
will set their differences aside in 2005 and agree on a bill which will provide an increase in funding levels.
We are not optimistic, however, that we will soon see a return to traditional levels of transportation funding at the
state level in California, our largest market. The California budget deficit has not been brought under control and
transportation funding has been an easy target to supplement the state’s general fund in an effort to reduce the size
of the state’s overall deficit. If there is a bright side to our California story, it is that we have successfully refocused
our California branch business to pursue other work. As a result, our financial performance in California in 2004 was
excellent despite the reduction in Caltrans funding. It is only a matter of time before necessity will require significant
investment in California infrastructure improvements. When that occurs, we are poised to capitalize on the opportunity.
Granite is in the business of managing complex construction activities and we succeed only if we have the right
people. We are working to enhance the training and learning opportunities for our people and to preserve the
Granite culture which has nurtured the careers of so many over the years. Our culture is built on a foundation of
ethical behavior and concern for all of our stakeholders. We believe our culture may be our greatest asset because
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FROM LEFT

David H. Watts and William G. Dorey

it is the Granite culture that has attracted and motivated our people, the most talented and dedicated people
in our industry. We are all proud that for the second straight year, Granite was recognized on FORTUNE’s list of the
“100 Best Companies to Work For.”
An essential part of our team is our strong and independent Board of Directors. We are experiencing a gradual
turnover of our board, currently at the rate of one retirement per year over the next few years. This gradual replacement
of our longest standing directors allows us to maintain the quality and consistency of the board as well as gain
fresh and diverse perspectives from new directors. We are in our second year with a presiding director, who very
effectively helps the Chairman set the board’s agenda and leads the board’s independent directors in their review
of the company’s business. Our directors diligently exercise their oversight responsibilities and are committed to the
long-term interests of our shareholders and stakeholders. We believe that the composition of our board, the quality
of the individuals on it, and the diligence that each director performs in their respective roles is the bedrock of Granite’s
commitment to good corporate governance practices. Our Board of Directors sets the right “tone from the top.”
Long ago we became aware that in order to be the best builder, we needed to make the development and growth
of our people our primary product. By building leadership and nurturing the development of our people, we are
building a company capable of consistently delivering quality and value. All of us at Granite are standing on the
shoulders of those who came before us and we are grateful for the investment they made in our careers. We are
committed to making the same, if not greater, investment in our next generation.
We are grateful for the support from all of our stakeholders and we are looking forward to a successful 2005.

David H. Watts, Chairman of the Board

William G. Dorey, President and Chief Executive Officer

*As a result of our adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,”
we have consolidated certain of our construction joint ventures on a prospective basis beginning January 1, 2004 (see Note 5 of the “Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements”).

Selected Consolidated Financial Data
ed December 31,
Years Ende

2004*

2003

2002

2001

2000

$ 2,136,212
222,021
10.4%
157,035
7.4%
57,007
2.7%

$ 1,844,491
226,450
12.3%
151,879
8.2%
60,504
3.3%

$ 1,764,742
224,584
12.7%
146,467
8.3%
49,279
2.8%

$ 1,547,994
183,616
11.9%
119,282
7.7%
50,528
3.3%

$ 1,348,325
190,618
14.1%
105,043
7.8%
55,815
4.1%

$

$

$

$

$

(In thousands, except per share data)

O P E R AT I N G S U M M A RY

Revenue
Gross profit
As a percent of revenue
General and administrative expenses
As a percent of revenue
Net income
As a percent of revenue
Net income per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares of common
and common stock equivalents
outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

1.41
1.39

1.51
1.48

40,390
41,031

40,175
40,808

Total assets
Cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities
Working capital
Current maturities of long-term debt
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

$ 1,277,954

$ 1,060,410

277,692
355,927
15,861
148,503
40,641
550,474

201,985
274,947
8,182
126,708
29,938
504,891

Book value per share
Dividends per share
Common shares outstanding

$

Backlog

$ 2,437,994

1.23
1.21

40,016
40,723

1.27
1.24

39,794
40,711

1.41
1.38

39,584
40,409

B A L A N C E S H E E T S U M M A RY

13.23
0.40
41,612

$

12.16
0.40
41,528

$ 1,985,788

$

983,819

$

182,694
220,396
8,640
132,380
13,742
454,869
$

11.03
0.32
41,257

$ 1,856,451

929,684

$

193,233
248,413
8,114
131,391
10,026
418,502
$

10.19
0.32
41,089

$ 1,377,172

711,142
100,731
180,051
1,130
63,891
6,370
377,764

$

9.24
0.29
40,882

$ 1,120,481

*Effective January 1, 2004, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (see Note 5 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”).
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Diversity of Contract Value
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Infrastructure for America

Granite is uniquely

majority of which mine sand, gravel and hard rock

structured to benefit fully from the wealth of opportunities

and manufacture aggregates, ready-mix concrete and

that exist to build, maintain and restore the nation’s

asphalt concrete.

infrastructure. In 2004, we completed over 4,600 projects
across the country. Through our two divisions, the
Branch Division and HCD, Granite competes for a broad
range of projects, and is one of the only major U.S.
transportation contractors with a business model that
allows us to profitably complete such a vast array of
project types and sizes.

HCD has five regional offices across the United States

and pursues opportunities that are typically beyond the
geographic reach or capability of a branch operation.
These projects generally range in value from $30 million
to more than $1 billion and include highways, dams,
tunnels, rapid-transit systems, bridges, airports, railroads,
pipelines and canals. HCD seeks both traditional

The Branch Division, which accounted for 60% of 2004

bid/build projects as well as those involving innovative

revenue, includes eleven offices that serve local markets

contracting methods such as design/build.

in the West, as well as serving the Washington and
Alaska markets through our majority-owned subsidiary,
Wilder Construction Company. The Branch Division

Materials Business Matures

has both public and private sector clients and targets

construction materials business mature into a consistent

new construction and maintenance projects as well

producer of revenue and income, which we have been

as site preparation work for housing and commercial

able to count on through various business and economic

development. It is this structure that enables Granite

cycles. By owning and providing our own aggregate

to diversify risk across a number of geographic markets,

materials, we are able to improve our competitiveness,

customers and types of projects while providing the

increase our margins and ensure an available supply.

resources and expertise of a major construction company

In addition, approximately 60% of the materials Granite

in each of the communities we serve. The Branch

produces is sold to outside customers throughout the

Division is vertically integrated into construction materials

western United States, with the remainder used internally

and operates 147 materials processing plants, the

on our own projects.

PHOTOS

We have seen our

Approximately $91 million Lake Fort Smith Dam project, Fort Smith, AR

We Build

Infrastructure

Johnny Tucker
Roadway Superintendent
HCD, Southeast Region

“We start with an undeveloped area and plans on paper, and end up with a roadway. As we clear the
land and excavate the dirt, we begin to see it develop. Teamwork and pride in a job well done, along
with quality and safety, help us everyday to make those plans on paper become a reality. The foundation of that roadway is the avenue on which the community will grow. I am so proud of what we do
here at Granite and I’m always excited to finish a project, but even more so to start a new one.”

We Build

Construction Materials

Stephanie Beck
Plant Engineer
Stockton Branch

“I have a strong sense of pride when I pass by a customer’s jobsite and see our construction
materials being used. Customers range from school districts to homeowners and jobs range
from a freeway to a local parking lot. While passing the jobsite in my Granite truck, I receive a
wave that assures me that I am part of a team devoted to building quality work and making
quality materials for our community.”

PHOTO

Swan Road Facility, Tucson, AZ
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Some of the success we are experiencing in our materials

generating capacity that allows us to take advantage

business today is a direct result of the improvements

of these growth opportunities.

we have made in how we manage this business. Over
ten years ago, we began investing heavily in testing
and quality control laboratories and equipment. Integral

Commitment to Core Values

to this effort was hiring people with materials testing

an industry-wide reputation as a quality company that

and engineering expertise, including Dr. Jon Epps and

produces quality work. Our predecessors recognized

Dr. Adam Hand, both nationally recognized leaders in

the importance of quality and were committed to making

the areas of construction materials, including aggregates,

Granite the most respected and honored company in

asphalt concrete and portland cement concrete, as

our industry. Our Core Values inspire our treatment of

well as pavement maintenance, rehabilitation, recycling
and thickness design. Today, Granite operates materials
testing laboratories that are among the most sophisticated
in the construction industry. As public and private sector
customers increasingly demand and specify higher

Granite enjoys

each other, our dealings with our customers, how we
respond to our stakeholders, and how we hold ourselves
accountable. We strongly believe that these Core Values
have been the foundation for our current success and
will continue to guide us into the future.

quality construction materials, we have embarked on

A key element of our Core Values is our long-standing

initiatives that will help us better satisfy their needs and

commitment to operate our business in a socially

promote the value of our products and services.

responsible manner. As builders and construction materials producers, the very nature of our work affords us

Looking ahead, we are focused on increasing our supply

the opportunity to be faithful environmental stewards

of aggregate reserves in the ground at both new and

and provide industry leadership in this area. At Granite,

existing locations. Our commitment to invest in our mate-

our efforts include recycling and utilizing recycled

rials business will enable us to grow this increasingly

materials on our projects, preserving the reuse potential

important profit center. While this business is capital

of our real estate assets and reducing water and energy

intensive, it is our solid balance sheet and reliable cash

usage at our facilities.

PHOTOS TOP LEFT AND RIGHT Roadway improvements to Highway 50 (the first Quality Control/Quality Assurance project in
California to accept the use of recycled material), Sacramento, CA; BOTTOM LEFT Crews construct concrete sidewalk, Elk Grove, CA;
BOTTOM RIGHT Compaction testing at Mather Airport, Sacramento, CA

We Build

Quality

Dr. Jon Epps
Engineering Services Manager
Branch Division

“Granite is committed to meeting the project specifications and satisfying our customers. Granite’s
reputation for quality starts and ends with communication with the customer. What does the
customer need and expect? What are the budget and schedule limitations? Knowing the customers’
needs is the first and most important step. How do we do it? We listen to our customers.”

We Build

Leadership

Brian Dowd
Director of Employee Development
Corporate Administration

“The success of any company depends on developing leadership at every level of the organization. Effective leadership taps into the wisdom and knowledge of every employee.
Leadership is based on cultivating trusting relationships that encourage everyone to step forward, take risks and work together.”
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We are very aware that

leaders. Our Personal Effectiveness Program for non-

Granite’s true success will be reflected in the success

supervisory employees provides them with training

and capabilities of our people. Therefore, we place a

focused on interpersonal skills and problem solving. In

special emphasis on leadership and believe that leader-

the Granite Supervisory Program, employees have the

ship ability needs to be identified and developed. One

opportunity to develop and enhance their leadership

of Granite’s strengths over the past eight decades has

skills, including how to facilitate improved performance

been our network of effective leaders and mentors

and resolve conflicts. It is programs such as these that

dispersed throughout the company. Entrepreneurs by

are proving invaluable in our effort to build a more fully

nature, our leaders have continuously grown their

engaged and effective workforce at all levels of Granite.

businesses while building the capacity of their teams.
Granite’s nearly five-year-old Employee Development
Initiative set out to formalize increased learning, knowledge

Productive Partnerships

sharing and mentoring throughout the organization,

highly productive workforce, Granite’s effectiveness is

as well as to support employee efforts to become more

attributable to our strategic partnerships in all areas of

effective and to build on the strength and experience

our business. We have many long-standing relationships

of all our employees.

with highly regarded companies that provide equipment,

To help leaders maximize their effectiveness as developers
of talent, we have three distinct personal development
programs for senior managers, non-supervisory employees
and front-line supervisors. For the senior managers of the
company we have an extensive Leadership Development

In addition to our

financing, materials, information technologies, insurance
and bonds. By being a reliable and trusted partner,
Granite has built and maintained partnerships with many
organizations, including our primary bank and our leading
provider of bonding for more than 70 years.

Program. In this program, managers increase their level

These financial partners, together with our extensive

of awareness regarding how they impact others, gain

experience, enable Granite to participate financially

versatility in their leadership behaviors, and develop

in real estate partnerships through our wholly owned

strategies to more fully leverage their role as strategic

subsidiary, Granite Land Company. This real estate

PHOTOS

Wilder Construction crews reconstructing the Norman Bridge, Snoqualmie Valley, WA

We Build

Partnerships

Kent Marshall
Director of Public-Private Partnerships
Heavy Construction Division

“Building long-term partnerships with owners, contractors and engineers is critical to Granite’s
success. These relationships generate mutual respect, and have helped us become the contractor
of choice for large design/build projects. This enables Granite to team early and bid projects
more competitively — setting us apart in the industry.”

PHOTO

Approximately $197 million joint venture project reconstructing Stillwell Avenue Terminal at Coney Island, Brooklyn, NY

We Build

Careers

Clayton Embree
Plants Manager
Desert Aggregates (Granite Affiliate)

“We build careers by encouraging creativity and providing opportunities for development. Granite
considers its employees to be valued assets and provides both opportunities and challenges.
While a career with Granite is very demanding, from what I have seen it is well worth it.”
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investment and development company invests equity

“100 Best Companies to Work For.” We are particularly

capital in a portfolio of carefully selected and diverse

proud to be one of only two construction companies to

real estate projects throughout the western United States.

make this distinguished list.

On our projects we partner with customers, designers,
subcontractors and suppliers on thousands of jobs each
year. In an effort to build projects more effectively and
efficiently, we share expertise, risk and resources with
our joint venture and design/build partners on many
of our large HCD projects.

Central to this achievement is the fact that we respect
our people and the contributions they make to Granite.
We encourage and promote our Core Values, strive to
develop every employee’s leadership potential and make
it our mission to create a culture in which teaching and
learning become a strategic advantage. As a result, Granite

Throughout the company, we also advocate the use of

has one of the highest retention rates of key project

a formalized concept known as partnering. Partnering

personnel in the industry. Our executive management

is a team-building process that facilitates the creation

team boasts an average of 28 years with Granite.

of mutual respect for other stakeholders’ respective
roles in the construction process and establishes a formal
strategy of commitment and communication. Granite

Valuing Safety

is proud to be one of the first contractors to partner with

health of our employees and others who are associated

the state highway departments in California, Arizona,

with our work is of paramount importance. Our efforts

Nevada, Florida and Texas.

go far beyond simple compliance with federal and state

Without question, the safety and

regulatory requirements. Our award-winning Accident
Prevention Program includes extensive safety training,

Career Building

In a recent employee satisfaction

inspections, audits and a formalized system of reporting.

survey, 81% of Granite employees indicated that they

We recognize that the protection of our people, property,

hoped to complete their careers at Granite. This attitude

the public and the environment are essential to the

was most recently reinforced by Granite’s inclusion, for

efficient and successful completion of every construction

the second consecutive year, on FORTUNE’s list of the

project we undertake.

PHOTOS

Approximately $171 million design/build ReTRAC railroad project, Reno, NV
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As Granite transforms our

that our time-tested philosophy of doing each job right

customers’ dreams and plans into reality, we also

the first time and providing good value to our customers

help to build their future, as well as the future for our

is the true secret of our success. It made good sense

communities — communities that are dependent on a

in 1922, and it still makes good sense today. Granite

sound and well-maintained transportation infrastructure.

has worked diligently to create superior capabilities at

While working to create these futures for our customers,

every stage of the construction process. Our experienced

we are also building a sustainable future for Granite,

teams of project personnel, large fleet of modern

our employees and our shareholders.

equipment and a ready supply of quality construction
materials provide us with the tools and capability to
deliver quality service at a fair price that thousands of
customers have come to depend on throughout Granite’s
first eight decades of achievement.

At one end of the spectrum, Granite brings to life the
visions and plans of homeowners and small businesses
building everything from driveways to retaining walls
and patios to parking lots. At the other end, we follow
the detailed specifications of public-sector owners

Creating value for all of our stakeholders enables us to

and designers to build dams, highways, bridges, airports

meet our ultimate objective — to generate a long-term

and rapid-transit facilities that serve the needs of

increase in shareholder value through profitable revenue

millions of people.

growth. In addition to consistently paying a dividend since
our initial public offering in 1990, our healthy balance
sheet has provided the financial foundation upon which
we have built a company capable of delivering the returns
that shareholders have come to expect year after year.

The construction of heavy civil transportation projects
speeds commerce on its way, enables vibrant economies
to grow and is an essential element in building a solid
economic future for our communities and our nation.

PHOTOS

Private works project at the Deer Crest Development, Park City, UT

We Build

Value

Mark Allen
Assistant Operations Manager
Deer Crest

“The company that comes in and does the best job that they can, and fortifies that with their
experience and with their support after the job is done — that’s the company we want to go with
and that’s what we found with Granite.”

We Build

Futures

Julie Gomez
Director of Corporate Development
Corporate Administration

“Building Granite’s future is like being an explorer on a great journey. You need to always have
your eyes on the horizon to search for that next destination. The journey itself requires tenacity,
discipline, and grit. I’m honored to be a part of the expedition!”

PHOTO

Approximately $116 million joint venture reconstruction project for the Virginia approach to the Woodrow Wilson Bridge, Alexandria, VA
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Board of Directors

STANDING FROM LEFT TO RIGHT

and William H. Powell.

George B. Searle, J. Fernando Niebla, David H. Kelsey, Joseph J. Barclay, Gary M. Cusumano, Raymond E. Miles
Linda Griego, David H. Watts, William G. Dorey and Rebecca A. McDonald.

SEATED FROM LEFT TO RIGHT

David H. Watts

Linda Griego

J. Fernando Niebla

Chairman of the Board

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Griego Enterprises, Inc.

President, International Technology
Partners L.L.C.

David H. Kelsey

William H. Powell

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer,
Sealed Air Corporation

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
National Starch and Chemical Company

Rebecca A. McDonald

President, Searle Associates, Inc.

William G. Dorey
President and Chief Executive Officer
Granite Construction Incorporated

Joseph J. Barclay
Former Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Cascade Corporation

Gary M. Cusumano
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To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Granite Construction Incorporated:
We have completed an integrated audit of Granite Construction Incorporated’s 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its 2003 and 2002
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.
C O N S O L I D AT E D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S A N D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S C H E D U L E

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements appearing on pages 42 to 65 present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Granite Construction Incorporated and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and
2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Notes 1 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, effective January 1, 2004 the Company
adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated
Financial Statements.”
I N T E R N A L C O N T R O L O V E R F I N A N C I A L R E P O RT I N G

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control
over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of
internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

P R I C E WAT E R H O U S E C O O P E R S L L P

San Jose, California
March 3, 2005
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GENERAL

We are one of the largest heavy civil contractors in the United States and are engaged in the construction of
highways, dams, airports, mass transit facilities and other infrastructure-related projects. We have offices in Alaska,
Arizona, California, Florida, Georgia, Minnesota, Nevada, New York, Oregon, Texas, Utah and Washington. Our
business involves two operating segments: the Branch Division and the Heavy Construction Division.
Our contracts are obtained primarily through competitive bidding in response to advertisements by federal, state
and local agencies and private parties and to a lesser extent through negotiation with private parties. Our bidding
activity is affected by such factors as backlog, current utilization of equipment and other resources, ability to obtain
necessary surety bonds and competitive considerations. Bidding activity, backlog and revenue resulting from the
award of new contracts may vary significantly from period to period.
The two primary economic drivers of our business are (1) federal, state and local public funding levels and (2) the
overall health of the economy, both nationally and locally. The level of demand for our services will have a direct
correlation to these drivers. For example, a weak economy will generally result in a reduced demand for construction
in the private sector. This reduced demand increases competition for fewer private sector projects and will
ultimately also increase competition in the public sector as companies migrate from bidding on the scarce private
sector work to projects in the public sector. A weak economy also tends to produce less tax revenue to the public
sector that can have the effect of decreasing the funds available for spending on infrastructure improvements. There
are funding sources that have been specifically earmarked for infrastructure spending, such as gasoline taxes, which
are not necessarily directly impacted by a weak economy. However, even these funds can be temporarily at risk as
state and local governments struggle to balance their budgets. Greater competition can reduce revenue growth
and/or increase pressure on gross profit margins. Conversely, higher public funding and/or a robust economy will
increase demand for our services and provide opportunities for revenue growth and margin improvement.
Our general and administrative costs include salaries and related expenses, incentive compensation, discretionary
profit sharing and other variable compensation, as well as other overhead costs to support our overall business.
In general, these costs will increase in response to the growth and the related increased complexity of our business.
These costs may also vary depending on the number of projects in process in a particular area and the corresponding
level of estimating activity. For example, as large projects are completed or if the level of work slows down in a
particular area, we will often re-assign employees who had been working on projects to estimating and bidding
activities until another project is ready to start, which temporarily moves their salaries and other related costs from
cost of revenue to general and administrative expense. Additionally, our compensation strategy for selected management personnel is to rely heavily on a variable cash and restricted stock performance-based incentive element.
The cash portion of these incentives is expensed when earned while the restricted stock portion is expensed over
the vesting period of the stock (generally three to five years). Depending on the mix of cash and restricted stock,
these incentives can have the effect of increasing general and administrative expenses in a very profitable year and
decreasing expenses in less profitable years.
C R I T I C A L A C C O U N T I N G E S T I M AT E S

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Our estimates, judgments and
assumptions are continually evaluated based on available information and experience; however actual amounts
could differ from those estimates.
Certain of our accounting policies and estimates require higher degrees of judgment than others in their application.
These include the recognition of revenue and earnings from construction contracts, accounting for construction
joint ventures, the valuation of long-lived assets and insurance estimates. We evaluate all of our estimates and
judgments on an on-going basis.
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Revenue Recognition for Construction Contracts: The majority of our contracts with our customers are either “fixed
unit price” or “fixed price.” Under fixed unit price contracts, we are committed to provide materials or services
required by a project at fixed unit prices (for example, dollars per cubic yard of concrete poured or cubic yards of
earth excavated). While the fixed unit price contract shifts the risk of estimating the quantity of units required for a
particular project to the customer, any increase in our unit cost over the expected unit cost in the bid, whether due
to inflation, inefficiency, faulty estimates or other factors, is borne by us unless otherwise provided in the contract.
Fixed price contracts are priced on a lump-sum basis under which we bear the risk that we may not be able to
perform all the work profitably for the specified contract amount. The percentage of fixed price contracts in our
backlog has increased from approximately 51.0% at December 31, 2003 to approximately 58.0% at December 31,
2004. All state and federal government contracts and many of our other contracts provide for termination of the
contract for the convenience of the party contracting with us, with provisions to pay us for work performed through
the date of termination.
We use the percentage of completion accounting method for construction contracts in accordance with the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.” Revenue and earnings on construction contracts,
including construction joint ventures, are recognized on the percentage of completion method in the ratio of costs
incurred to estimated final costs. Revenue in an amount equal to cost incurred is recognized prior to contracts
reaching 25% completion. The related profit is deferred until the period in which such percentage completion is
attained. It is our judgment that until a project reaches 25% completion, there is insufficient information to determine
what the estimated profit on the project will be with a reasonable level of assurance. Revenue from contract claims
is recognized when we have a signed settlement agreement and payment is assured. Revenue from contract change
orders, which occur in most large projects, is recognized when the owner has agreed to the change order in
writing. Provisions are recognized in the statement of income for the full amount of estimated losses on uncompleted
contracts whenever evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a contract exceeds its estimated total
revenue. Contract cost consists of direct costs on contracts, including labor and materials, amounts payable to
subcontractors, direct overhead costs and equipment expense (primarily depreciation, fuel, maintenance and
repairs). Depreciation is provided using accelerated methods for construction equipment. Contract cost is recorded
as incurred and revisions in contract revenue and cost estimates are reflected in the accounting period when
known. The 25% threshold is applied to all percentage of completion projects without exception unless and until
we project a loss on the project, in which case the estimated loss is immediately recognized.
The accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period is almost solely dependent on the accuracy
of our estimates of the cost to complete each project. Our cost estimates for all of our significant projects use
a highly detailed “bottom up” approach and we believe our experience allows us to produce materially reliable
estimates. However, our projects can be highly complex and in almost every case the profit margin estimates for a
project will either increase or decrease to some extent from the amount that was originally estimated at the time of
bid. Because we have many projects of varying levels of complexity and size in process at any given time (during
2004 we worked on over 4,600 projects) these changes in estimates can offset each other without materially impacting
our overall profitability. However, large changes in cost estimates, particularly in the bigger, more complex projects
in our Heavy Construction Division, can have a more significant effect on profitability.
There are a number of factors that can contribute to changes in estimates of contract cost and profitability. The
most significant of these include the completeness and accuracy of the original bid, recognition of costs associated
with added scope changes, extended overhead due to owner and weather delays, subcontractor performance
issues, changes in productivity expectations, site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid (to
the extent contract remedies are unavailable), the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location
of the project and a change in the availability and proximity of materials. The foregoing factors as well as the stage
of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at different margins may cause fluctuations in gross
profit between periods and these fluctuations may be significant.
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Construction Joint Ventures and Other Variable Interest Entities: As described in Note 5 of the “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” and in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operation” under “Joint Ventures,” we participate in various construction joint venture partnerships in
order to share expertise, risk and resources for certain highly complex projects.
We have determined that certain of the construction joint ventures as well as certain other partnerships in which
we participate are variable interest entities as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46
(revised December 2003) “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”) and we have consolidated those
for which we are the primary beneficiary on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2004 (see Note 5 of the “Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). Consistent with industry practice and Emerging Issues Task Force
Issue 00-01, “Investor Balance Sheet and Income Statement Display under the Equity Method for Investments in
Certain Partnerships and Other Ventures,” we account for our share of the operations of construction joint ventures
in which we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary on a pro rata basis in the consolidated statements
of income and as a single line item in the consolidated balance sheets.
Determining whether an entity is a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) and whether we are the primary beneficiary
involves a substantial amount of estimation and judgment, including estimates of the amount and timing of future
cash flows. Although we believe that the estimates and judgments we used are reasonable and supportable, the
use of different assumptions and estimates could produce a different result. The decision as to whether or not to
consolidate a joint venture has an impact on the amount of recorded revenue, contract costs, assets and liabilities
but has little or no impact on recorded net income.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets: Long-lived assets, which include property, equipment and acquired identifiable
intangibles, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment evaluations involve management estimates of asset useful
lives and future cash flows. Actual useful lives and cash flows could be different from those estimated by management and this could have a material effect on our operating results and financial position.
Additionally, we had approximately $27.9 million in goodwill at December 31, 2004, $18.0 million relating to HCD
and $9.9 million relating to our Branch Division. We perform goodwill impairment tests on an annual basis and more
frequently when events and circumstances occur that indicate a possible impairment of goodwill. In determining
whether there is an impairment of goodwill, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting unit in which the
goodwill is recorded using a discounted future cash flow method. We then compare the resulting fair value to the
net book value of the reporting unit, including goodwill. If the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value,
we would measure the amount of the impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. To the extent that the carrying amount of a reporting unit’s
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, we recognize a goodwill impairment loss. We performed our annual impairment
test in 2004 and we determined that no impairment had occurred. The discounted future cash flow method used
in the first step of our impairment test involves significant estimates including future cash inflows from estimated
revenues, future cash outflows from estimated project cost and general and administrative costs, estimates of
timing of collection and payment of various items and future growth rates as well as discount rate and terminal
value assumptions. Although we believe the estimates and assumptions that we used in testing for impairment
are reasonable and supportable, significant changes in any one of these assumptions could produce a significantly
different result.
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CURRENT YEAR
REVENUE
Years ended December 31,

2004

Revenue by Division:
Branch Division
Heavy Construction Division

Revenue by Geographic Area:
California
West (excluding California)
Midwest
South
Northeast

Revenue by Market Sector:
Federal agencies
State agencies
Local public agencies
Total public sector
Private sector
Material sales

2003

2002

Amount

Percent

Amount

Percent

Amount

Percent

$ 1,287,615
848,597

60.3%
39.7%

$ 1,152,726
691,765

62.5%
37.5%

$ 1,187,812
576,930

67.3%
32.7%

(In thousands)

$ 2,136,212 100.0%

$ 1,844,491 100.0%

$ 1,764,742 100.0%

$

$

$

761,365
634,206
84,587
358,631
297,423

35.6%
29.7%
4.0%
16.8%
13.9%

680,597
593,781
59,911
345,258
164,944

36.9%
32.2%
3.2%
18.7%
9.0%

738,392
598,432
73,612
251,604
102,702

41.8%
33.9%
4.2%
14.3%
5.8%

$ 2,136,212 100.0%

$ 1,844,491 100.0%

$ 1,764,742 100.0%

$

118,613
709,629
724,855

5.6%
33.2%
33.9%

$

63,852
722,055
553,146

3.5%
39.1%
30.0%

$

56,039
692,263
515,071

3.2%
39.2%
29.2%

$ 1,553,097

72.7%

$ 1,339,053

72.6%

$ 1,263,373

71.6%

318,762
264,353

14.9%
12.4%

252,693
252,745

13.7%
13.7%

273,636
227,733

15.5%
12.9%

$ 2,136,212 100.0%

$ 1,844,491 100.0%

$ 1,764,742 100.0%

Revenue: Revenue from our Branch Division increased $134.9 million, or 11.7%, in the year ended December 31,
2004 from the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in Branch Division revenue primarily reflected increases
in private sector construction revenue and sales of construction materials as a result of the increase in demand
created by the continuing strong housing market in California and other Branch Division locations. The increase
in revenue from construction materials was also due to increases in both unit volume and average sales price of
certain products, which we believe reflect an appreciation in the market for the growing scarcity of finite aggregate
resources and the results of our strategic focus on maximizing revenue from external sales of materials. Public
sector revenue as a percent of total branch revenue remained relatively unchanged compared with 2003 as increased
local government agency revenue was largely offset by a reduction in state government agency work, particularly
in California. We continue to experience reduced awards from the California State Department of Transportation
due to ongoing budgetary uncertainty in the state (see “Outlook”).
Revenue from our Heavy Construction Division increased $156.8 million, or 22.7%, in the year ended December 31,
2004 from the year ended December 31, 2003. Included in HCD revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004
was $104.3 million (all in the public sector) resulting from the consolidation of our partners’ share of construction
joint venture revenue under FIN 46 (see Note 5 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). The
remainder of the increase over 2003 was due primarily to results from a higher backlog at the beginning of 2004,
particularly in the Northeast.
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BACKLOG
December 31,

2004

Backlog by Division:
Heavy Construction Division
Branch Division

Backlog by Geographic Area:
California
West (excluding California)
Midwest
South
Northeast

Backlog by Market Sector:
Federal agencies
State agencies
Local public agencies
Total public sector
Private sector

2003

Amount

Percent

Amount

Percent

$ 1,876,091
561,903

77.0%
23.0%

$ 1,529,398
456,390

77.0%
23.0%

(In thousands)

$ 2,437,994 100.0%

$ 1,985,788 100.0%

$

$

607,737
369,294
120,578
757,605
582,780

24.9%
15.1%
4.9%
31.1%
24.0%

259,035
317,520
36,096
642,534
730,603

13.0%
16.0%
1.8%
32.4%
36.8%

$ 2,437,994 100.0%

$ 1,985,788 100.0%

$

$

64,348
1,003,614
1,137,821

2.6%
41.2%
46.7%

105,397
747,214
962,255

5.3%
37.6%
48.5%

2,205,783

90.5%

1,814,866

91.4%

232,211

9.5%

170,922

8.6%

$ 2,437,994 100.0%

$ 1,985,788 100.0%

Backlog: Backlog in our Heavy Construction Division at December 31, 2004 was $1,876.1 million, an increase of
$346.7 million, or 22.7%, from backlog at December 31, 2003. Included in HCD backlog at December 31, 2004 was
$280.5 million resulting from the consolidation of our partners’ share of construction joint venture backlog under
FIN 46 (see Note 5 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). The remainder of the increase resulted
from new awards in California and in the South, partially offset by a reduction in the Northeast and reflected changes
primarily in public sector backlog. Additions to HCD backlog in the fourth quarter of 2004 included a $147.8 million
design/build bridge project in Florida, a $131.1 million highway project in Texas and a $49.8 million transit structure
project in New York.
Branch Division backlog at December 31, 2004 was $561.9 million, an increase of $105.5 million, or 23.1%, from
the December 31, 2003 level. The increase was due primarily to higher backlog in the private sector for projects
located throughout the West, including California, due largely to the continued strong demand in the housing sector.
Public sector backlog increases in states other than California were generally offset by a decrease in California,
where ongoing budgetary issues have had a negative impact on the amount of funding available for infrastructure
projects. Branch Division awards in the fourth quarter of 2004 included a $28.3 million bridge project in Alaska
and a $16.3 million sewer pipeline project in California.
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GROSS PROFIT
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

(In thousands)

Branch Division gross profit
Percent of division revenue

$

185,509
14.4%

$

170,024
14.7%

$

173,480
14.6%

Heavy Construction Division gross profit
Percent of division revenue

$

41,036
4.8%

$

56,920
8.2%

$

50,759
8.8%

Other

$

(4,524)

$

(494)

$

345

Total gross profit
Percent of revenue

$

222,021
10.4%

$

226,450
12.3%

$

224,584
12.7%

Gross Profit: As more fully described under “Critical Accounting Estimates” we recognize revenue only equal to cost,
deferring profit recognition, until a project reaches 25% completion. Because we have a large number of projects
at various stages of completion in our Branch Division, this policy generally has very little impact on the Branch
Division’s gross profit on a quarterly or annual basis. However, HCD has fewer projects in process at any given time
and those projects tend to be much larger than Branch Division projects. As a result, HCD gross profit as a percent
of revenue can vary significantly in periods where one or several very large projects reach 25% completion and
the deferred profit is recognized or conversely, in periods where backlog is growing rapidly and a higher percentage
of projects are in their early stages with no associated gross margin recognition.
Additionally, as we also describe under “Critical Accounting Estimates” we do not recognize revenue from contract
claims until we have a signed agreement and payment is assured and we do not recognize revenue from contract
change orders until the contract owner has agreed to the change order in writing. However, we do recognize the
costs related to any contract claims or pending change orders when they are incurred. As a result, our gross profit
as a percent of revenue can vary during periods where a large volume of change orders or contract claims are pending
resolution (reducing gross profit percent) or, conversely, during periods where large change orders or contract
claims are agreed or settled (increasing gross profit percent). Although this variability can occur in both our Branch
Division and HCD, it can be much more pronounced in HCD because of the larger size of their projects.
Revenue from projects that were less than 25% complete was $132.2 million in 2004 and $107.9 million in 2003.
Included in revenue from projects less than 25% complete for the year ended December 31, 2004 is $24.2 million resulting
from the consolidation of our partners’ share of construction joint venture backlog under FIN 46 (see Note 5 of the
“Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). This increase in revenue from projects less than 25% complete had
the effect of reducing our overall gross margin. No significant claim revenue was recognized in either 2004 or 2003.
Gross profit as a percent of revenue in our Branch Division decreased slightly in 2004 as compared with 2003
reflecting normal variability in the mix of work performed during the year.
The decrease in HCD gross profit as a percent of revenue in 2004 as compared with 2003 was due primarily to
downward revisions in certain profit forecasts due to additional estimated costs to complete. The net impact of
these estimate changes on recognized gross profit during 2004 was a reduction in gross profit of approximately
$40.0 million, of which approximately $10.0 million was recognized in the fourth quarter. Included in the net impact
of this change in estimate in both the quarter and year ended December 31, 2004 was approximately $2.0 million
representing our partners’ proportionate share that has been newly consolidated during 2004 (see Note 5 of the
“Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). The majority of this change in estimate related to downward
revisions of ten projects. The amount attributable to each project ranged from approximately $1.4 million to
$11.6 million. The cost estimate changes resulted from a variety of factors including costs associated with added
scope changes, extended overhead due to owner and weather delays, design problems on design/build projects,
subcontractor performance issues, changes in productivity expectations and higher estimated liquidated damages
on two projects. At December 31, 2004, six of these projects were greater than 90% complete, two were greater
than 85% complete and the remaining two projects averaged 59% complete. Although we believe that our estimates
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of the cost to complete these projects are achievable, it is possible that the actual cost to complete will be greater
than our current estimate and any future estimate changes could be significant.
G E N E R A L A N D A D M I N I S T R AT I V E E X P E N S E S
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

(In thousands)

Salaries and related expenses
Incentive compensation, discretionary profit sharing
and other variable compensation
Other general and administrative expenses
Total

$

82,379

$

25,467
49,189
$

Percent of revenue

157,035

78,832

$

28,309
44,738
$

7.4%

151,879

72,329
25,727
48,411

$

8.2%

146,467
8.3%

General and Administrative Expenses: General and administrative expenses increased by $5.2 million from 2003
to 2004. Salaries and related expenses increased in 2004 due primarily to additional staffing needed to support a
higher volume of work. Incentive compensation, discretionary profit sharing and other variable compensation decreased
in 2004 due to lower profitability in 2004. The increase in other general administrative costs in 2004 related to
increased bidding activity and higher revenue volume as well as costs associated with complying with the requirements
of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Other general and administrative costs include information
technology, occupancy, office equipment and supplies, depreciation, travel and entertainment, outside services,
advertising and marketing, training and other miscellaneous expenses, none of which individually exceeded 10%
of total general and administrative expenses.
G A I N O N S A L E S O F P R O P E RT Y A N D E Q U I P M E N T
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

(In thousands)

Gain on sales of property and equipment

$

18,566

$

4,714

$

2,128

Gain on Sales of Property and Equipment: Gain on sales of property and equipment increased by $13.9 million
from 2003 to 2004 due primarily to the $10.0 million gain on sale of certain assets related to our redi-mix concrete
business in Utah in March 2004.
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

(In thousands)

Interest income
Interest expense
Equity in income of affiliates
Other, net
Total

$

7,962
(7,191)
6,162
4,439

$

6,422
(8,577)
17,657
2,738

$

10,048
(9,162)
3,366
(1,758)

$

11,372

$

18,240

$

2,494

Other Income (Expense): Equity in income of affiliates primarily comprised income from our equity method investment
in two land development partnerships in the year ended December 31, 2004 and $18.4 million in income related to
the sale of the State Route 91 Toll Road Franchise by the California Private Transportation Corporation, of which we
are a 22.2% limited partner in the year ended December 31, 2003.
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P R O V I S I O N F O R I N C O M E TA X E S
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

(In thousands)

Provision for income taxes
Effective tax rate

$

28,477
30.0%

$

35,304
36.2%

$

29,951
36.2%

Provision for Income Taxes: Our effective tax rate decreased to 30.0% in 2004 from 36.2% in 2003 due primarily
to the inclusion in our pre-tax income of the minority interest in the income of our consolidated construction joint
ventures as required by FIN 46 (see Note 5 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”), which are
generally not subject to income taxes on a stand-alone basis, and a lower overall state tax rate, net of federal tax
benefit, due to changes in the mix of earnings in differing tax jurisdictions. The American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 provides for a new deduction for domestic production which will be phased in over six years beginning in 2005.
As a result, we expect that our 2005 tax expense will be positively impacted by this deduction, adjusting our
effective tax rate between 0.8% and 1.0%.
OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, our performance in 2005 will be dependent largely on the Branch Division’s ability to capitalize on
the private sector opportunities available in the West and HCD’s ability to deliver improved performance from its
backlog. Our materials business remains strong, and we continue to monitor the legislative activities affecting our
industry, particularly the funding of transportation projects at both federal, state and local levels.
The Branch Division has been implementing its strategic direction taken several years ago to capitalize on the
healthy private sector market in the West. We have made the organizational adjustments and added staff to allow
us to better serve this market, particularly in California where we continue to witness population and job growth
producing strong housing starts in many of our regions. We have yet, however, to see an increase in Caltrans work
being let and we do not anticipate this will change in 2005. Conversely, the private sector market is currently
showing no signs of slowing down. Our strategy for the Branch Division is to continue to serve both the private and
public sector markets. This strategy provides us the flexibility to take advantage of opportunities in a variety of
markets and economic environments.
Our materials business, which is also being driven by the private sector market, remains strong. With thirdparty sales representing 21% of the Branch Division’s revenue in 2004, the ownership of aggregate materials is
becoming increasingly more valuable both as a resource for our core construction business as well as a strategic
and profitable retail business. Our plan is to continue to invest in this part of our business by acquiring additional
aggregate reserves, “Green fielding” new facilities and expanding our existing operations. Our financial resources
provide us with the ability to take advantage of these investment opportunities as they arise.
Our 2005 focus for all of our business, but particularly for our HCD business, is to successfully execute on our
backlog. We believe the division’s margin performance has, in part, been impacted by its rapid growth and, as a
result we are continuing to build the division’s support infrastructure and are focusing considerable attention on the
basic fundamentals of this business beginning with management oversight, a disciplined bidding philosophy and a
commitment to project execution and forecasting. Specifically, we have been bidding our work with higher margins
and spending less effort on the top line growth of the division. In addition, over this past year, we have added a
second assistant division manager, added two new regional managers and added support staff as well as instituting
new procedures to surface problems sooner. While we have some underperforming projects yet to complete, we
believe we will begin to see our efforts reflected in improved financial results from the division in 2005.
On the legislative front, we continue to closely monitor Congress’ on-going efforts to reauthorize the federal
transportation bill that replaces the previous legislation (the six-year $218 billion Transportation Equity Act for the
21st Century) that expired in September 2003. The President’s FY2006 Budget released in early February included
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a revised funding proposal of $284 billion over six years — a $28 billion increase over the $256 billion proposed by
the Administration in the FY2005 budget. According to the American Road and Transportation Builders Association
(“ARTBA”), this increase is paid for through new revenue from the Highway Trust Fund (“HTF”) generated by the
credit of ethanol-related tax subsidies to the HTF and from a reduction in fuel tax evasion. Subsequently, the House
introduced its $284 billion six-year bill for FY2004 through FY2009 that is expected to go before the full House for
a vote in March. According to legislative analysts with ARTBA, the Senate is expected to introduce a similar measure
by early March. We are working closely with industry organizations and lobbyists to support a long-term bill this
year that provides for more than the minimum investment levels proposed by the President and the House.
As anticipated, in California, Governor Schwarzenegger proposed no additional transportation funding in his
initial 2005–2006 Budget submission and called for an additional loan of $1.3 billion from Proposition 42 monies
to the General Fund to help mitigate the State’s fiscal shortfall. The General Fund currently owes more than $3
billion to transportation accounts to be paid back in future years. The Budget picture will become clearer with
the Governor’s May revisions and the actions of the Legislature in framing a final Budget document. The Governor
and legislative leaders in both houses have proposed constitutional firewalls to protect Proposition 42 funds in
future fiscal years.
As we discussed last quarter, the defeat of two California gaming initiatives, Proposition 68 and 70, on last
November’s ballot were expected to boost the state’s transportation accounts by as much as $1.2 billion. Originally,
these funds were to be made available during the first half of 2005, provided litigation was resolved and the
bonds were let. According to industry analysts, while the Governor remains strongly committed to ensuring that
transportation programs will benefit from the sale of bonds, the recently proposed state budget anticipates that
legal issues will prevent the sale of those bonds in 2004–05 by proposing to shift the bond proceeds to the 2005–06
budget. Additionally, State Treasurer Phil Angelides has estimated that the bonds will yield only two-thirds of the
$1.2 billion originally projected.
In summary, we expect to build our capabilities across both divisions in 2005 and pursue opportunities in new
and existing markets throughout the United States. As always, our top priorities remain the safe and successful
execution of our work and the improvement of our bottom line financial performance.
PRIOR YEARS

Revenue: Revenue from our Branch Division decreased $35.1 million, or 3.0%, in the year ended December 31,
2003 from the year ended December 31, 2002. Branch Division revenue in 2003 included $199.5 million from our
majority-owned Wilder Construction Company (“Wilder”) subsidiary, which was consolidated in our financial statements beginning in May 2002, versus $155.4 million in 2002. The decrease in Branch Division revenue reflected a
decrease in construction revenue, primarily in the public sector, partially offset by the increase in Wilder revenue
referred to above and an increase in revenue from the sale of construction materials. Many of our Branch Division
businesses were impacted by the effects of a weaker general economy and uncertainty surrounding public funding,
particularly in California. The increase in revenue from construction materials was due to increases in both unit
volume and average sales price of certain products, which we believe reflected an appreciation in the market for
the growing scarcity of finite aggregate resources and the results of a strategic focus on maximizing revenue from
external sales of materials.
Revenue from our Heavy Construction Division increased $114.8 million, or 19.9%, in the year ended December 31,
2003 from the year ended December 31, 2002 due primarily to results from a higher backlog at the beginning of
2003. Geographically, this revenue growth came from projects in the South and from our Granite Halmar location
in New York.
Backlog: Backlog in our Heavy Construction Division at December 31, 2003 was $1,529.4 million, an increase of
$163.7 million, or 12.0%, from the December 31, 2002 level. The increase took place primarily in the South and at

Granite Construction Incorporated 2004 Annual Report

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

our Granite Halmar location in New York and reflected increases in both public sector and private sector backlog.
Additions to HCD backlog in the fourth quarter of 2003 included a $38.8 million interchange project in Florida, a
$23.4 million roadway and bridge project in Florida and a $216.7 million transit facility project in New York.
Branch Division backlog at December 31, 2003 was $456.4 million, a decrease of $34.4 million or 7.0% from
the December 31, 2002 level. The decrease was due primarily to lower backlog in the public sector, particularly
in California where the continuing budget crisis had a negative impact on the amount of funding available for
infrastructure projects. Branch division awards in the fourth quarter of 2003 include a $25.0 million share of a joint
venture highway improvement project in Nevada and a $19.0 million highway reconstruction project in Utah.
Gross Profit: Revenue from projects that were less than 25% complete was $107.9 million in 2003 and $99.1 million
in 2002. Because the variance between the two years was not significant, the impact on the comparability of
gross profit as a percent of revenue between the two years was also not significant. No significant claim revenue
was recognized in either 2003 or 2002.
Gross profit as a percent of revenue in our Branch Division increased slightly in 2003 as compared with 2002.
This was due to an increase in the profitability of sales of construction materials, partially offset by lower gross
profit margin on the Division’s construction work. Construction gross margins in the Branch Division were under
pressure due to increased competition resulting from reductions in various state and local transportation funding
programs; however the margins on the sale of materials benefited from a higher average sales price.
Gross profit as a percent of revenue in HCD decreased in 2003 as compared with 2002 due largely to profit
forecasts on several projects that were revised downward to give recognition to additional estimated costs to
complete for which we either did not expect to receive additional revenue or we had not yet reached agreement
with the contract owner for additional revenue.
General and Administrative Expenses: General and administrative expenses increased by $5.4 million from 2002
to 2003. This increase was primarily attributed to expenses from our Wilder subsidiary and our expansion into
Northern California, both of which were first reflected in our costs in May 2002. Excluding the Wilder and Northern
California locations added in May of 2002, salaries and related expenses increased by approximately $1.7 million
in 2003. Incentive compensation, discretionary profit sharing and other variable compensation increased in 2003 as
compared with 2002 due to higher net income in 2003. Other general and administrative costs include information
technology, occupancy, office equipment and supplies, depreciation, travel and entertainment, outside services,
advertising and marketing, training and other miscellaneous expenses, none of which individually exceeded 10%
of total general and administrative expenses.
Operating Income: Our Heavy Construction Division’s contribution to operating income increased in 2003 compared
with 2002 due primarily to increased revenue as described in “Revenue” above. Branch Division contribution to
operating income decreased in 2003 compared with 2002 due to lower revenue as described in “Revenue” above
and higher general and administrative expenses due primarily to expenses from our Wilder subsidiary and our
expansion into Northern California, both of which were first reflected in our costs in May 2002. Unallocated other
corporate expenses principally comprise corporate general and administrative expenses.
Other Income (Expense): Included in equity in income of affiliates in 2003 is $18.4 million recognized in the first
quarter of 2003 related to the sale of the State Route 91 toll road franchise by the California Private Transportation
Corporation (“CPTC”), of which we are a 22.2% limited partner, as well as a gain of approximately $1.9 million
recognized on the sale of a portion of our investment in T.I.C. Holdings, Inc. (“TIC”). Interest income decreased in
2003, largely due to the absence of the recognition of deferred interest income on a note receivable from CPTC in
2002 and lower “look back” interest income related to taxes paid on income from construction projects.
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L I Q U I D I T Y A N D C A P I TA L R E S O U R C E S
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Net cash provided by (used in) by:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Capital expenditures
Working capital

$

161,627
79,233
(41,427)
(15,812)
89,636
355,927

$

69,919
77,589
(33,039)
(26,663)
62,805
274,947

$

52,032
104,045
(134,110)
(43,077)
57,415
220,396

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and borrowings under our credit facilities. We
expect the principal use of funds for the foreseeable future will be for capital expenditures, working capital, debt
service, acquisitions and other investments. We have budgeted $89.0 million for capital expenditures in 2005, which
includes amounts for construction equipment, aggregate and asphalt plants, buildings, leasehold improvements
and the purchase of land and aggregate reserves. Additionally, we are seeking authorization, subject to Board
Approval, to spend up to approximately $50.0 million for materials related investments.
Our cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term marketable securities totaled $277.7 million at
December 31, 2004 and included $67.4 million of cash from our newly consolidated joint ventures (see Note 5 of the
“Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). This joint venture cash is for the working capital needs of each
joint venture’s project. The decision to distribute cash must generally be made jointly by all of the partners. We believe
that our current cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, cash generated from operations and amounts
available under our existing credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our expected working capital needs, capital
expenditures, financial commitments and other liquidity requirements associated with our existing operations through
the next 12 months and beyond. If we experience a significant change in our business such as the execution of a
significant acquisition, we would likely need to acquire additional sources of financing, which may be limited by the
terms of our existing debt covenants, or may require the amendment of our existing debt agreements.
Cash provided by operating activities of $79.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 represents a $1.6
million increase from the amount provided by operating activities in 2003. The increase primarily reflects variations
based on the amount and progress of work being performed. In particular, there was a higher growth in accounts
payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities related primarily to a higher volume of work performed in the
fourth quarter of 2004 compared with the fourth quarter of 2003 that was only partially offset by a higher growth
in accounts receivable. Additionally, there was a decrease in the cash flow from net billings in excess of cost and
estimated earnings due to an increase in the number of projects with billing provisions that require completion of
discrete components of work rather than the more typical monthly unit price billing terms. Such billing provisions
result in delays in our ability to bill and receive payment from the project owner.
Cash used by investing activities of $41.4 million in 2004 represents an $8.4 million increase from the amount
used in investing activities in 2003. The increase was largely due to higher net additions to property and equipment
as well as $9.2 million used to purchase additional shares of our majority-owned subsidiary, Wilder Construction
Company, in April 2004. These increases in cash used by investing activities were partially offset by higher net
maturities of marketable securities.
Cash used by financing activities was $15.8 million in 2004, a decrease of $10.9 million from 2003. The decrease
was mainly due to higher proceeds from long-term debt in 2004, which include $25 million advanced under
our bank revolving line of credit, partially offset by higher payments of long-term debt and net distributions of $12.6
million to our partners in our construction joint ventures which we began consolidating in 2004 as a result of our
implementation of FIN 46 (see Note 5 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”).
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C O N T R A C T U A L O B L I G AT I O N S

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2004 (in thousands):
Payments due by period
Less than
1 year

Total

Long term debt (1)
Operating leases (2)
Purchase obligations under
construction contracts (3)
Other purchase obligations (4)
Deferred compensation obligations (5)
Wilder stock repurchase obligation (6)

$

164,364
27,678

Total

$ 1,641,481

$

1,397,353
13,733
21,181
17,172

15,861
6,324

1-3 years

$

869,513
13,733
140
661
$

906,232

65,985
9,150

$

438,717
—
2,587
1,579
$

518,018

More than
5 years

3-5 years

35,312
3,561

$

89,123
—
4,332
1,000
$

133,328

47,206
8,643
—
—
14,122
13,932

$

83,903

(1) These obligations represent the aggregate minimum principal maturities of long-term debt and do not include
interest. See Note 10 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.”
(2) These obligations represent the minimum rental commitments and minimum royalty requirements under all
noncancellable operating leases. See Note 15 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.”
(3) These obligations represent our best estimate of future purchases of materials and subcontract services related
to our current contract backlog.
(4) These obligations represent firm purchase commitments for equipment and other goods and services not
connected with our construction backlog which are individually greater than $10,000 and have an expected
purchase after February 28, 2005.
(5) The timing of expected payment of deferred compensation is based on estimates and is subject to change.
(6) The years of expected payment for redemptions is based on estimates and is subject to change. See Note 15 of
the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.”
In 2002, our Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase up to $25.0 million of our common stock of which
$22.8 million remained at December 31, 2004. In addition, we are authorized to purchase shares for contribution to
our Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”).
We had standby letters of credit totaling approximately $2.9 million outstanding at December 31, 2004, all of which
expire between February and October of 2005. Additionally, we generally are required to provide various types of
surety bonds that provide an additional measure of security under certain public and private sector contracts. At
December 31, 2004, approximately $2.4 billion of our backlog was bonded and performance bonds totaling
approximately $7.5 billion were outstanding. Performance bonds do not have stated expiration dates; rather, we are
generally released from the bonds when each contract is accepted by the owner. The ability to maintain bonding
capacity to support our current and future level of contracting requires that we maintain cash and working capital
balances satisfactory to our sureties.
In addition to our working capital and cash generated from operations, we currently have access to funds under
a $100.0 million bank revolving line of credit, which allows for unsecured borrowings through June 27, 2006, with
interest rate options. Outstanding borrowings under the revolving line of credit are at our choice of selected LIBOR
rates plus a margin that is recalculated quarterly. The margin was 1.25% at December 31, 2004. The unused and
available portion of this line of credit was $72.3 million at December 31, 2004. Additionally, our Wilder subsidiary
has a bank revolving line of credit of $10.0 million that expires in June 2006. There were no amounts outstanding
under the Wilder line of credit at December 31, 2004.
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Restrictive covenants under the terms of our debt agreements require the maintenance of certain financial ratios and
the maintenance of tangible net worth (as defined) (see Note 10 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”).
We were in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2004. Additionally, our Wilder subsidiary has restrictive
covenants (on a Wilder stand-alone basis) under the terms of its debt agreements that include the maintenance of
certain ratios of working capital, liabilities to net worth and tangible net worth and restricts Wilder capital expenditures
in excess of specified limits. Wilder was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2004. Failure to comply
with these covenants could cause the amounts due under the debt agreements to become currently payable.
JOINT VENTURES

We participate in various construction joint venture partnerships in order to share expertise, risk and resources for certain
highly complex projects. Generally, each construction joint venture is formed to accomplish a specific project, is
jointly controlled by the joint venture partners and is dissolved upon completion of the project. We select our joint venture
partners based on our analysis of the prospective venturers’ construction and financial capabilities, expertise in the
type of work to be performed and past working relationships with us, among other criteria. The joint venture agreements
typically provide that our interests in any profits and assets, and our respective share in any losses and liabilities that
may result from the performance of the contract are limited to our stated percentage interest in the project.
The venture’s contract with the project owner typically requires joint and several liability among the joint venture
partners. Our agreements with our joint venture partners provide that each party will assume and pay its full
proportionate share of any losses resulting from a project; however, if one of our partners is unable to pay its proportionate share we would be fully liable under our contract with the project owner. Circumstances that could lead to a
loss under these guarantee arrangements include a partner’s inability to contribute additional funds to the venture in
the event that the project incurred a loss or additional costs that we could incur should the partner fail to provide the
services and resources toward project completion that had been committed to in the joint venture agreement.
Under each joint venture agreement, one partner is designated as the sponsor. The sponsoring partner typically
provides all administrative, accounting and most of the project management support for the project and generally
receives a fee from the joint venture for these services. We have been designated as the sponsoring partner in certain
of our current joint venture projects and are a non-sponsoring partner in others.
We also participate in various “line item” joint venture agreements under which each partner is responsible for
performing certain discrete items of the total scope of contracted work. The revenue for these discrete items is
defined in the contract with the project owner and each venture partner bears the profitability risk associated with
its own work. All partners in a line item joint venture are jointly and severally liable for completion of the total
project under the terms of the contract with the project owner. There is not a single set of books and records for
a line item joint venture. Each partner accounts for its items of work individually as it would for any self-performed
contract. We account for our portion of these contracts as a project in our accounting system and include receivables
and payables associated with our work on our balance sheet.
Although our agreements with our joint venture partners for both construction joint ventures and line item joint
ventures provide that each party will assume and pay its share of any losses resulting from a project, if one of our
partners was unable to pay its share we would be fully liable under our contract with the project owner. Circumstances
that could lead to a loss under these guarantee arrangements include a partner’s inability to contribute additional
funds to the venture in the event that the project incurred a loss or additional costs that we could incur should the
partner fail to provide the services and resources toward project completion that had been committed to in the
joint venture agreement. At December 31, 2004 approximately $385.8 million of work representing either our partners’
proportionate share or work that our partners’ are directly responsible for in line item joint ventures, had yet to be
completed. We have never incurred a loss under these joint and several liability provisions, however, it is possible
that we could in the future and such a loss could be significant.
OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

See “Joint Ventures” above.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note 1 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for a description of recent accounting
pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption and effects on our financial position, results of operations
and cash flows.
Q U A RT E R LY R E S U LT S

The following table sets forth selected unaudited financial information for the eight quarters in the two-year period
ended December 31, 2004. This information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements
and, in the opinion of management, contains all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation thereof.
Q U A RT E R LY F I N A N C I A L D ATA
2004 quarters ended

Dec. 31

Sept. 30

June 30

March 31

(Unaudited — In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue
Gross profit
As a percent of revenue
Net income (loss)
As a percent of revenue
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted
Dividends per share
Market price
High
Low

$

540,615
56,245
10.4%
19,525
3.6%

$

699,825
95,348
13.6%
32,785
4.7%

$

558,754
59,744
10.7%
13,806
2.5%

$

337,018
10,684
3.2%
(9,109)
(2.7%)

$
$
$

0.48
0.47
0.10

$
$
$

0.81
0.80
0.10

$
$
$

0.34
0.34
0.10

$
$
$

(0.23)
(0.23)
0.10

$
$

27.90
22.91

$
$

23.99
17.17

$
$

24.18
17.52

$
$

24.61
20.64

2003 quarters ended

Revenue
Gross profit
As a percent of revenue
Net income
As a percent of revenue
Net income per share:
Basic
Diluted
Dividends per share
Market price
High
Low

Dec. 31

Sept. 30

June 30

March 31

$

492,726
58,191
11.8%
13,858
2.8%

$

580,200
82,059
14.1%
25,834
4.5%

$

469,405
53,183
11.3%
10,794
2.3%

$

302,160
33,017
10.9%
10,018
3.3%

$
$
$

0.34
0.34
0.10

$
$
$

0.64
0.63
0.10

$
$
$

0.27
0.26
0.10

$
$
$

0.25
0.25
0.10

$
$

24.25
18.66

$
$

21.54
16.95

$
$

20.43
15.67

$
$

17.05
13.56

Net income (loss) per share calculations are based on the weighted average common shares outstanding for
each period presented. Accordingly, the sum of the quarterly net income (loss) per share amounts may not equal
the per share amount reported for the year.
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We are exposed to financial market risks due largely to changes in interest rates, which we have managed primarily
by managing the maturities in our investment portfolio. We currently do not have any material business transactions
in foreign currencies.
The fair value of our short-term held-to-maturity investment portfolio and related income would not be significantly
impacted by changes in interest rates since the investment maturities are short and the interest rates are primarily
fixed. The fair value of our long-term held-to-maturity investment portfolio may be impacted by changes in interest
rates. Our mutual fund portfolio of $22.3 million is exposed to equity price risks.
We had senior notes payable of $40.0 million at December 31, 2004 which carry a fixed interest rate of 6.54%
per annum with principal payments due in nine equal annual installments that began in 2002 and senior notes
payable of $75.0 million at December 31, 2004 which carry a fixed interest rate of 6.96% per annum with principal
payments due in nine equal annual installments beginning in 2005.
We had amounts due under our line of credit totaling $25.0 million at December 31, 2004 which bear interest at
6 month LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25%. The interest rate resets every six months and all amounts outstanding are
due in June 2006. At December 31, 2004 $10.0 million of the outstanding amount bore interest at 3.76% and the
remaining $15.0 million bore interest at 4.04%.
In February 2003, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements in order to gain access to the lower borrowing
rates normally available on floating-rate debt, while avoiding the prepayment and other costs that would be
associated with refinancing our long-term fixed-rate debt. The swaps purchased have a combined notional amount
of $50 million, a thirty-month term with six-month settlement periods and provide for us to pay variable interest at
LIBOR plus set rate spreads and receive fixed interest of between 6.54% and 6.96%. The notional amount does not
quantify risk or represent assets or liabilities, but rather, is used in the determination of cash settlement under the
swap agreement. As a result of purchasing these swaps, we are exposed to credit losses from any counter-party
non-performance; however, we do not anticipate any such losses from these agreements, which are with a major
financial institution. The agreements also expose us to interest rate risk should LIBOR rise during the term of the
agreements. These swap agreements are accounted for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”). Under the provisions of SFAS 133, we
initially recorded the interest rate swaps at fair value, and subsequently recorded any changes in fair value in other
income, net. Fair value is determined based on quoted market prices, which reflect the difference between estimated
future variable-rate payments and future fixed-rate receipts and was a liability of approximately $342,000 at
December 31, 2004.
The table below presents notional amounts, weighted average pay rates, and weighted average receive rates by
year for our interest rate swaps (in thousands):

Interest Rate Swaps:
Notional Amount
Weighted Average Pay Rate
Weighted Average Receive Rate

$

2005

Thereafter

50,000
7.23%
6.71%

—
—
—

Total

$

50,000
7.23%
6.71%

The following table presents principal amounts and related weighted average interest rates by year for our cash
and cash equivalents, held-to-maturity investments and significant debt obligations (in thousands):
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2005

Assets
Cash, cash equivalents and heldto-maturity investments
$ 241,565
Weighted average interest rate
2.12%
Liabilities
Fixed rate debt
Senior notes payable
$ 15,000
Weighted average interest rate
6.77%
Variable rate debt
Revolving line of credit
—
Weighted average interest rate
—

2006

2007

268
2.96%

$

2008

2009

Thereafter

Total

192
4.58%

—
—

—
—

$ 255,394
2.18%

$ 13,369
3.17%

$

$ 15,000
6.77%

$ 15,000
6.77%

$ 15,000
6.77%

$ 15,000
6.77%

$ 40,000
6.89%

$ 115,000
6.81%

$ 25,000
3.93%

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

$ 25,000
3.93%

The estimated fair value of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term held-to-maturity investments approximate
the principal amounts reflected above based on the generally short maturities of these financial instruments. The
estimated fair value of our long-term held-to-maturity investments approximates the principal amounts above due
to the relatively minor difference between the effective yields of these investments and rates currently available on
similar instruments. Rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities are used
to estimate fair value of existing debt. Based on the lower fixed borrowing rates currently available to us for bank
loans with similar terms and average maturities, the fair value of the senior notes payable was approximately
$126.1 million as of December 31, 2004 and $129.1 million as of December 31, 2003. The estimated fair value of
amounts payable under our revolving line of credit at December 31, 2004 approximates the principal amount reflected
above since the variable interest rate approximates the rate currently available to us for a loan with similar terms.
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES (ITEM 9A)

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures: We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision of and with the
participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
for gathering, analyzing and disclosing the information we are required to disclose in the reports we file under the
Exchange Act, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: During the fourth quarter of 2004, there have been no
significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or were reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: Our management is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation under the
framework in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework,” our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.
Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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December 31,

2004

2003

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Equity in construction joint ventures
Other current assets

$

Total current assets

161,627
102,237
357,842
54,384
31,711
21,012
20,895
75,630

$

69,919
90,869
288,210
31,189
29,878
22,421
42,250
43,915

825,338

618,651

376,197

344,734

Long-term marketable securities

13,828

41,197

Investments in affiliates

10,725

18,295

Other assets

51,866

37,533

$ 1,277,954

$ 1,060,410

$

$

Property and equipment, net

LIABILITY AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

15,861
191,782
144,401
117,367

8,182
135,468
99,337
100,717

469,411

343,704

148,503

126,708

Other long-term liabilities

40,641

29,938

Deferred income taxes

44,135

44,297

24,790

10,872

Long-term debt

Commitments and contingencies
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 3,000,000 shares, none outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 41,612,319 shares in 2004 and 41,528,317 in 2003
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income

—

—

416
76,766
482,635
1,475

415
73,651
442,272
76

Unearned compensation

561,292
(10,818)

516,414
(11,523)

550,474

504,891

$ 1,277,954

$ 1,060,410

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

$ 1,871,859
264,353

$ 1,591,746
252,745

$ 1,537,009
227,733

2,136,212

1,844,491

1,764,742

1,701,277
212,914

1,413,538
204,503

1,351,570
188,588

1,914,191

1,618,041

1,540,158

222,021
157,035
18,566

226,450
151,879
4,714

224,584
146,467
2,128

83,552

79,285

80,245

7,962
(7,191)
6,162
4,439

6,422
(8,577)
17,657
2,738

10,048
(9,162)
3,366
(1,758)

11,372

18,240

2,494

Income before provision for income taxes and minority interest
Provision for income taxes

94,924
28,477

97,525
35,304

82,739
29,951

Income before minority interest
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries

66,447
(9,440)

62,221
(1,717)

52,788
(3,509)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue:
Construction
Material sales
Total revenue
Cost of revenue:
Construction
Material sales
Total cost of revenue
Gross Profit
General and administrative expenses
Gain on sales of property and equipment
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Equity in income of affiliates
Other, net

Net income
Net income per share
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares of common stock
Basic
Diluted
Dividends per share
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$

57,007

$

60,504

$

49,279

$
$

1.41
1.39

$
$

1.51
1.48

$
$

1.23
1.21

$

40,390
41,031
0.40

$

40,175
40,808
0.40

$

40,016
40,723
0.32
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Accumulated
other
compreRetained
hensive
earnings income (loss)

Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

$ 411

$ 62,380

$ 367,546

—

—

49,279

—

—

—

—

—

(962)

—

3
—
(6)
—
2
3
—

6,141
—
(6,525)
—
3,987
2,875
532

—
—
(5,224)
(13,218)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(6,318)
5,798
—
—
—
—
—

48,317
(174)
5,798
(11,755)
(13,218)
3,989
2,878
532

41,257,015

413

69,390

398,383

(1,402)

(11,915)

454,869

—

—

—

60,504

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,478

—

349,090
—
(82,695)
—
4,907

4
—
(2)
—
—

5,202
—
(1,314)
—
373

—
—
—
(16,615)
—

—
—
—
—
—

(5,559)
5,951
—
—
—

61,982
(353)
5,951
(1,316)
(16,615)
373

Balances, December 31, 2003
41,528,317
Comprehensive income:
Net income
—
Other comprehensive income:
Changes in net unrealized
gains on investments
—
Total comprehensive income
Restricted stock issued
166,650
Amortized restricted stock
—
Repurchase of common stock
(293,239)
Cash dividends on common stock
Common stock contributed to ESOP
192,000
Stock options exercised and other
18,591

415

73,651

442,272

76

(11,523)

504,891

—

—

57,007

—

—

—

—

—

1,399

—

2
—
(3)
—
2
—

4,367
—
(6,424)
—
3,987
1,185

—
—
—
(16,644)
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

(5,306)
6,011
—
—
—
—

$ 416

$ 76,766

$ 482,635

$ 1,475

Years ended December 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004

Outstanding
shares

Unearned
compensation

Total

(In thousands, except share data)

Balances, December 31, 2001
41,089,487
Comprehensive income:
Net income
—
Other comprehensive income:
Changes in net unrealized
losses on investments
—
Total comprehensive income
Restricted stock issued
270,057
Amortized restricted stock
—
Repurchase of common stock
(624,531)
Cash dividends on common stock
—
Common stock contributed to ESOP
191,800
Warrants exercised
322,950
Stock options exercised and other
7,252
Balances, December 31, 2002
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Changes in net unrealized
gains on investments
Total comprehensive income
Restricted stock issued
Amortized restricted stock
Repurchase of common stock
Cash dividends on common stock
Stock options exercised and other

Balances, December 31, 2004

41,612,319

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$ (440) $ (11,395) $ 418,502

58,406
(937)
6,011
(6,427)
(16,644)
3,989
1,185

$ (10,818) $ 550,474
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Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

(In thousands)

Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Gain on sales of property and equipment
Change in deferred income taxes
Amortization of unearned compensation
Common stock contributed to ESOP
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries
Equity in income of affiliates
Gain on sale of equity investment
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions and FIN 46 consolidations:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Equity in construction joint ventures
Other assets
Accounts payable
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings, net
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

57,007

$

60,504

$

49,279

62,459
(18,566)
(5,868)
6,011
3,989
9,440
(6,162)
(3,288)

65,693
(4,714)
4,089
5,951
—
1,717
(17,657)
(1,853)

58,668
(2,128)
(3,311)
5,798
3,989
3,509
(3,366)
—

(28,222)
(1,833)
(208)
(23,699)
38,431
(25,037)
14,779

(22,314)
106
(17,921)
(29,708)
16,655
5,389
11,652

21,882
(1,352)
(1,256)
(616)
(23,113)
(6,204)
2,266

Net cash provided by operating activities

79,233

77,589

104,045

Investing Activities
Purchases of marketable securities
Maturities and sales of marketable securities
Additions to property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of equity investment
Distributions from affiliates, net
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash received
Acquisition of minority interest
Other investing activities

(96,975)
113,243
(89,636)
24,389
7,463
9,308
—
(9,219)
—

(190,957)
191,863
(62,805)
8,498
6,033
14,152
—
—
177

(494,633)
430,549
(57,415)
6,029
13,051
2,447
(36,034)
—
1,896

(41,427)

(33,039)

(134,110)

70,703
(52,142)
161
(6,427)
(16,636)
—
5,601
(17,229)
157

20,480
(31,511)
43
(1,316)
(15,763)
—
1,548
(420)
276

5,547
(25,195)
75
(11,755)
(13,197)
2,878
—
—
(1,430)

(15,812)

(26,663)

(43,077)

21,994
69,714
69,919

17,887
—
52,032

(73,142)
—
125,174

Net cash used by investing activities
Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Stock options exercised
Repurchase of common stock
Dividends paid
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Contributions from minority partners
Distributions to minority partners
Other financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent added in FIN 46 consolidations
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplementary Information
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activity:
Restricted stock issued for services, net
Dividends accrued but not paid
Financed acquisition of assets
Notes received from sale of assets
Subsidiary preferred stock exchanged for subsidiary common stock
Subsidiary notes payable issued in exchange for redemption of subsidiary common stock
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$ 161,627

$

69,919

$

52,032

$

7,000
29,557

$

8,935
30,096

$

9,604
28,599

$

4,369
4,161
14,680
8,893
—
—

$

5,206
4,153
4,004
—
—
897

$

6,144
3,301
—
—
3,299
1,868
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1.

S U M M A RY O F S I G N I F I C A N T A C C O U N T I N G P O L I C I E S

Description of Business: Granite Construction Incorporated is a heavy civil contractor engaged in the construction
of highways, dams, airport runways, mass transit facilities, real estate site development and other infrastructure
related projects with offices in Alaska, Arizona, California, Florida, Minnesota, Nevada, New York, Oregon, Texas,
Utah and Washington. Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Granite” refer to Granite
Construction Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Granite Construction
Incorporated and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries. All material inter-company transactions and
accounts have been eliminated. We use the equity method of accounting for affiliated companies where we have
the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control. Additionally, we participate in joint ventures with other
construction companies. We have consolidated these joint ventures where we have determined that through our
participation in these joint ventures that we have a variable interest and are the primary beneficiary as defined by
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003) “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities,” (“FIN 46”). Where we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary we account for our share
of the operations of jointly controlled ventures on a pro rata basis in the consolidated statements of income and
as a single line item in the consolidated balance sheets in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue
00-01, “Investor Balance Sheet and Income Statement Display under the Equity Method for Investments in Certain
Partnerships and Other Ventures.”
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements: The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition: The majority of our contracts with our customers are either “fixed unit price” or “fixed price.”
Under fixed unit price contracts, we are committed to provide materials or services required by a project at fixed
unit prices (for example, dollars per cubic yard of concrete poured or cubic yards of earth excavated). While the fixed
unit price contract shifts the risk of estimating the quantity of units required for a particular project to the customer,
any increase in our unit cost over the expected unit cost in the bid, whether due to inflation, inefficiency, faulty
estimates or other factors, is borne by us unless otherwise provided in the contract. Fixed price contracts are
priced on a lump-sum basis under which we bear the risk that we may not be able to perform all the work profitably
for the specified contract amount. The percentage of fixed price contracts in our backlog has increased from
approximately 51.0% at December 31, 2003 to approximately 58.0% at December 31, 2004. All state and federal
government contracts and many of our other contracts provide for termination of the contract for the convenience
of the party contracting with us, with provisions to pay us for work performed through the date of termination.
We use the percentage of completion accounting method for construction contracts in accordance with the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.” Revenue and earnings on construction contracts, including
construction joint ventures, are recognized on the percentage of completion method in the ratio of costs incurred
to estimated final costs. Revenue in an amount equal to cost incurred is recognized prior to contracts reaching 25%
completion. The related profit is deferred until the period in which such percentage completion is attained. It is our
judgment that until a project reaches 25% completion, there is insufficient information to determine what the estimated
profit on the project will be with a reasonable level of assurance. Revenue from contract claims is recognized when
we have a signed settlement agreement and payment is assured. Revenue from contract change orders, which occur
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in most large projects, is recognized when the owner has agreed to the change order in writing. Provisions are
recognized in the statement of income for the full amount of estimated losses on uncompleted contracts whenever
evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a contract exceeds its estimated total revenue.
Contract cost consists of direct costs on contracts, including labor and materials, amounts payable to subcontractors,
direct overhead costs and equipment expense (primarily depreciation, fuel, maintenance and repairs). Depreciation
is provided using accelerated methods for construction equipment. Contract cost is recorded as incurred and
revisions in contract revenue and cost estimates are reflected in the accounting period when known. The 25%
threshold is applied to all percentage of completion projects without exception unless and until we project a loss on
the project, in which case the estimated loss is immediately recognized.
Revenue from the sale of materials is recognized when delivery occurs and risk of ownership passes to the customer.
Balance Sheet Classifications: We include in current assets and liabilities amounts receivable and payable under
construction contracts that may extend beyond one year. Additionally, we include the cost of property purchased
for development and sale in current assets. A one-year time period is used as the basis for classifying all other
current assets and liabilities.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash equivalents are securities having maturities of three months or less from the date
of purchase.
Marketable Securities: We determine the classification of our marketable securities at the time of purchase and
reevaluate these determinations at each balance sheet date. Debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity when
we have the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are stated at
amortized cost. Debt securities for which we do not have the positive intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified
as available-for-sale, along with any investments in equity securities. Securities available-for-sale are carried at
fair value with the unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes, reported as a separate component of other
comprehensive income until realized. We have no investments that qualify as trading.
The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to
maturity, which is included in interest income. Realized gains and losses are included in other income, net. The cost
of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.
Financial Instruments: The carrying value of marketable securities approximates their fair value as determined by market
quotes. Rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to estimate
the fair value of existing debt. The carrying value of receivables and other amounts arising out of normal contract
activities, including retentions, which may be settled beyond one year, is estimated to approximate fair value.
Concentrations: We maintain the majority of cash balances and all of our marketable securities with several
financial institutions. We invest with high credit quality financial institutions and, by policy, limit the amount of credit
exposure to any financial institution. A significant portion of our labor force is subject to collective bargaining
agreements. Collective bargaining agreements covering approximately 4.0% of our labor force at December 31,
2004 will expire during 2005.
Revenue earned by both the Branch Division and the Heavy Construction Division from federal, state and local
government agencies amounted to $1,553.1 million (72.7%) in 2004, $1,339.1 million (72.6%) in 2003 and $1,263.4
million (71.6%) in 2002. California Department of Transportation represented $134.5 million (6.3%) in 2004, $166.5
million (9.0%) in 2003 and $209.6 million (11.9%) in 2002 of total revenue. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had
significant amounts receivable from these agencies. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and
generally do not require collateral, although the law provides us the ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property
improved for private customers in the event of non-payment by such customers. We maintain reserves for potential
credit losses and such losses have been within management’s expectations. We have no foreign operations.
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Inventories: Inventories consist primarily of quarry products valued at the lower of average cost or market.
Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation for construction equipment, and
office furniture and equipment is primarily provided using accelerated methods over lives ranging from three to ten
years and the straight-line method over lives from three to twenty years for the remaining depreciable assets. We
believe that accelerated methods best approximate the service provided by the construction equipment, and office
furniture and equipment. Depletion of quarry property is based on the usage of depletable reserves. We frequently
sell property and equipment that has reached the end of its useful life or no longer meets our needs, including depleted
quarry property. Such property is held in property and equipment until sold. The cost and accumulated depreciation
or depletion of property sold or retired is removed from the accounts and gains or losses, if any, are reflected in
earnings for the period. We capitalized interest costs related to certain self-constructed assets of $1.9 million in 2004,
$823,000 in 2003 and $218,000 in 2002. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.
Long-Lived Assets: Long-lived assets held and used by us are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recorded when the asset’s carrying value exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows.
We perform goodwill impairment tests annually during our fourth quarter and more frequently when events and
circumstances occur that indicate a possible impairment of goodwill. In determining whether there is an impairment
of goodwill, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting unit in which the goodwill is recorded using a
discounted future cash flow method. We then compare the resulting fair value to the net book value of the reporting
unit, including goodwill. If the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we measure the amount of
the impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount
of that goodwill. To the extent that the carrying amount of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair value,
we recognize a goodwill impairment loss. We performed our annual impairment test in 2004 and we determined
that no impairment had occurred.
Other intangible assets include covenants not to compete, permits and trade name which are being amortized
on a straight-line basis over terms from two to fifteen years.
Reclamation Costs: We account for the costs related to legal obligations to reclaim aggregate mining sites and
other facilities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143 (“SFAS 143”), “Accounting
for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which was effective for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2003. Accordingly,
we record our estimated reclamation liability when incurred, capitalize the estimated liability as part of the related
asset’s carrying amount and allocate it to expense over the asset’s useful life. The adoption of SFAS 143 in 2003
did not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Warranties: Many of our construction contracts contain warranty provisions covering defects in equipment, materials,
design or workmanship that generally run from six months to one year after our customer accepts the project.
Because of the nature of our projects, including contract owner inspections of the work both during construction
and prior to acceptance, we have not experienced material warranty costs for these short-term warranties and
therefore, do not believe an accrual for these costs is necessary. Certain construction contracts carry longer warranty
periods, ranging from two to ten years for which we have accrued an estimate of warranty cost. The warranty cost
is estimated based on our experience with the type of work and any known risks relative to the project. However,
these accrued costs were not material at December 31, 2004 or December 31, 2003.
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Accrued Insurance Costs: We carry insurance policies to cover various risks, primarily general liability and workers
compensation, under which we are liable to reimburse the insurance company for a portion of each claim paid.
The amounts that we are liable for generally range from the first $250,000 to $1.0 million per occurrence. We accrue
for the estimated ultimate liability for incurred losses, both reported and unreported, using actuarial methods based
on historic trends modified, if necessary, by recent events.
Stock Option Compensation: As more fully described in Note 12, we maintain an equity incentive plan that allows
for the grant of incentive and nonqualified stock options to employees and our Board of Directors. We account for
options granted under this plan under the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”).
Income Taxes: Deferred taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for
deductible temporary differences and operating loss carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for
taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of
management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.
Computation of Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, excluding restricted common stock.
Diluted earnings per share are computed giving effect to all dilutive potential common shares that were outstanding
during the period. Dilutive potential common shares consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon the
exercise of stock options, warrants and upon the vesting of restricted common stock.
Reclassifications: Certain financial statement items have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s format.
These reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net income, financial position or cash flows.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” which is an interpretation of Accounting Research
Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements” and requires a variable interest entity (“VIE”) to be consolidated
by a company that is considered to be the primary beneficiary of that VIE. In December 2003, the FASB issued
Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”) to address
certain implementation issues.
We were required to adopt FIN 46 no later than the end of the first interim or annual reporting period ending after
March 15, 2004. As is common in the construction industry, we have entered into certain construction contracts
with third parties through joint ventures and we have determined that certain of these joint ventures are VIEs. As a
result of our adoption of FIN 46, we have consolidated all VIEs in which we are the primary beneficiary prospectively
as of January 1, 2004 (see Note 5). We continue to account for all other such joint ventures in accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 00-01, “Investor Balance Sheet and Income Statement Display under the Equity
Method for Investments in Certain Partnerships and Other Ventures.”
In December, 2004, FASB issued Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123-R”),
which is a revision of SFAS 123. SFAS 123-R supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and amends FASB Statement No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” Generally, the approach to accounting
for share-based payments in SFAS 123-R is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123. However, SFAS 123-R
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requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in
the financial statements based on their fair values (i.e., pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative to financial
statement recognition). SFAS 123-R is effective for financial statements at both interim and annual periods beginning
after June 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS 123-R is not expected to have a material effect on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.
2.

C H A N G E I N A C C O U N T I N G E S T I M AT E

The decrease in HCD gross profit as a percent of revenue in 2004 as compared with 2003 was due primarily to
downward revisions in certain profit forecasts due to additional estimated costs to complete. The net impact of
these estimate changes on recognized gross profit during 2004 was a reduction in gross profit of approximately
$40.0 million, of which approximately $10.0 million was recognized in the fourth quarter. Included in the net impact
of this change in estimate in both the quarter and year ended December 31, 2004 was approximately $2.0 million
representing our partners’ proportionate share that has been newly consolidated during 2004 (see Note 5). The
majority of this change in estimate related to downward revisions of ten projects. The amount attributable to each
project ranged from approximately $1.4 million to $11.6 million. The cost estimate changes resulted from a variety
of factors including costs associated with added scope changes, extended overhead due to owner and weather
delays, design problems on design/build projects, subcontractor performance issues, changes in productivity
expectations and higher estimated liquidated damages on two projects. At December 31, 2004, six of these
projects were greater than 90% complete, two were greater than 85% complete and the remaining two projects
averaged 59% complete. Although we believe that our estimates of the cost to complete these projects are
achievable, it is possible that the actual cost to complete will be greater than our current estimate and any future
estimate changes could be significant.
3.

M A R K E TA B L E S E C U R I T I E S

The carrying amounts of marketable securities were as follows at December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):
Held-to-Maturity
2004

Securities classified as current:
U.S. Government and agency
obligations
$
Commercial paper
Municipal bonds
Domestic banker’s acceptance
Mutual funds
Securities classified as long-term:
U.S. Government and agency
obligations
Municipal bonds
Total marketable securities

$

25,213
32,931
18,966
2,829
—

Available-for-Sale

2003

$

27,380
41,526
7,954
—
—

2004

$

—
—
—
—
22,298

Total

2003

$

—
—
—
—
14,009

2004

$

25,213
32,931
18,966
2,829
22,298

2003

$

27,380
41,526
7,954
—
14,009

79,939

76,860

22,298

14,009

102,237

90,869

6,538
7,290

20,603
20,594

—
—

—
—

6,538
7,290

20,603
20,594

13,828

41,197

—

—

13,828

41,197

93,767

$ 118,057

14,009

$ 116,065

$ 132,066

$

22,298

$
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Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. Unrealized holding
gains and losses for all debt securities were insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. We
recognized unrealized holding gains of $2,304 ($1,399 after tax), $2,310 ($1,478 after tax) and unrealized holding
losses of $1,481 ($962 after tax) related to our available-for-sale investment in mutual funds as a component of the
other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Included in
our mutual fund portfolio at December 31, 2003 were investments with a fair value of $8.6 million that had unrealized
losses of $0.4 million. Each of these investments had been in a loss position for more than 12 months at December 31,
2003. We evaluated the nature of these investments and the severity and duration of the impairments and concluded
that the impairments were not other than temporary. At December 31, 2004, none of our investments in our mutual
fund portfolio were in an unrealized loss position.
At December 31, 2004, scheduled maturities of held-to-maturity investments were as follows (in thousands):
Within one year
After one year through five years

$

79,939
13,828

$

93,767

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, changes in our marketable securities were as follows (in
thousands):
December 31, 2004
Held-tomaturity

Availablefor-sale

December 31, 2003

Purchases
Maturities and sales
Amortization and other
Unrealized gains

$

88,222
(110,475)
(2,037)
—

$

8,753
(2,768)
—
2,304

$

96,975
(113,243)
(2,037)
2,304

Net Change

$

(24,290)

$

8,289

$

(16,001)

4.

Held-tomaturity

Total

Availablefor-sale

Total

$ 188,599
(191,863)
—
—

$

2,358
—
—
2,310

$ 190,957
(191,863)
—
2,310

$

$

4,668

$

(3,264)

1,404

A C C O U N T S R E C E I VA B L E

December 31,

2004

2003

$ 197,995
121,876

$ 179,019
76,508

Construction material sales
Other

319,871
31,157
8,668

255,527
29,690
4,238

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

359,696
1,854

289,455
1,245

$ 357,842

$ 288,210

(In thousands)

Construction contracts:
Completed and in progress
Retentions
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Accounts receivable includes amounts billed and billable for public and private contracts and do not bear interest.
The balances billed but not paid by customers pursuant to retainage provisions in construction contracts generally
become due upon completion of the contracts and acceptance by the owners. Retainage amounts of $121.9 million
at December 31, 2004 are expected to be collected as follows: $87.0 million in 2005, $23.3 million in 2006, $10.1
million in 2007 and $1.5 million in 2008 and thereafter.
5.

CONSTRUCTION JOINT VENTURES

We participate in various construction joint venture partnerships. Generally, each construction joint venture is formed to
accomplish a specific project, is jointly controlled by the joint venture partners and is dissolved upon completion of
the project. The joint venture agreements typically provide that our interests in any profits and assets, and our respective
share in any losses and liabilities that may result from the performance of the contract is limited to our stated percentage
interest in the project. Although the venture’s contract with the project owner typically requires joint and several
liability, our agreements with our joint venture partners provide that each partner will assume and pay its full proportionate
share of any losses resulting from a project. We have no significant commitments beyond completion of the contract.
We have determined that certain of these joint ventures are variable interest entities as defined by FIN 46.
Accordingly, we have consolidated those joint ventures where we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary
on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2004. The joint ventures we have consolidated are engaged in
construction projects with total contract values ranging from $63.8 million to $390.4 million. Our proportionate share
of the consolidated joint ventures ranges from 52.0% to 69.0%. Included in our December 31, 2004 consolidated
balance sheet are assets (primarily current assets) of $94.8 million and current liabilities of $84.1 million resulting
from these consolidations. There was no material effect on our net income as a result of these consolidations for
the year ended December 31, 2004.
Consistent with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 00-01, “Investor Balance Sheet and Income Statement Display
under the Equity Method for Investments in Certain Partnerships and Other Ventures,” we account for our share of the
operations of construction joint ventures in which we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary on a pro rata
basis in the consolidated statements of income and as a single line item in the consolidated balance sheets. The joint
ventures in which we hold a significant interest but are not the primary beneficiary are engaged in construction projects
with total contract values ranging from $90.4 million to $236.0 million. Our proportionate share of equity in these joint
ventures ranges from 25% to 40%, the most significant of which includes a 40% share of a rapid transit project in
New York, a 30% share of a rapid transit project in Maryland and a 30% share of a rapid transit project in Florida.
The combined assets, liabilities and net assets of joint ventures in which we have determined we are not the
primary beneficiary are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,

Assets:
Total
Less other venturers’ interest

2004

$

Company’s interest
Liabilities:
Total
Less other venturers’ interest
Company’s interest
Company’s interest in net assets

$

96,070
63,724

2003

$

224,540
121,731

32,346

102,809

33,229
21,778

127,776
67,217

11,451

60,559

20,895

$

42,250
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The revenue and costs of revenue of joint ventures in which we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary
are as follows (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

Revenue:
Total
Less other venturers’ interest

2004

$

Company’s interest
Cost of revenue:
Total
Less other venturers’ interest
Company’s interest
Company’s interest in gross profit
6.

$

229,265
159,631

2003

$

473,918
261,405

2002

$

386,212
184,386

69,634

212,513

201,826

211,715
147,599

423,652
236,131

335,844
159,048

64,116

187,521

176,796

5,518

$

24,992

$

25,030

I N V E S T M E N T S I N A F F I L I AT E S

We have investments in affiliates that are accounted for using the equity method. The most significant of these
investments are a 50% interest in a limited liability company, which owns and operates an asphalt terminal in Nevada
and a 25% interest in a limited partnership which develops land and leases buildings in California. During 2000
and 2002, we made advances to the asphalt terminal limited liability company of which $4.6 million remained
outstanding at December 31, 2004.
In January 2003, the California Private Transportation Company LP (“CPTC”), of which we are a 22% limited
partner, closed the sale of the State Route 91 toll road franchise to the Orange County Transportation Authority for
$72.5 million in cash and the assumption of $135.0 million in long-term debt. We completed construction of the
$60.4 million project in 1995 and have maintained an equity interest in the partnership since its inception. Included
in other income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2003 is $18.4 million related to this sale by CPTC.
During the year ended December 31, 2002 we purchased additional common stock of Wilder Construction
Company (“Wilder”), bringing our ownership interest in Wilder above 50%. Accordingly, we changed our method
of accounting for our investment in Wilder from the equity method of accounting to consolidation as of the date
we exceeded 50% ownership (see “Wilder Construction Company” in Note 17 for additional discussion of and
disclosure related to our investment in Wilder).
At December 31, 2002, we held a minority interest in T.I.C. Holdings, Inc. (“TIC”) of approximately 16%, which we
accounted for under the cost method of accounting. In June 2003, TIC repurchased 0.3 million shares of the TIC
shares held by us for a cash payment of $6.0 million. The transaction reduced our interest in TIC to approximately
11% and resulted in a gain of $1.9 million, which is included in other income (expense) for the year ended
December 31, 2003. In December 2004, TIC repurchased an additional 0.3 million shares of TIC shares held by us
for a cash payment of $7.5 million. The transaction reduced our interest in TIC to approximately 6% and resulted
in a gain of $3.3 million, which is included in other income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Our investments in affiliates comprised (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Equity method investments in affiliates
Cost method investment in TIC

$

6,548
4,177

$

9,940
8,355

$

6,430
12,540

Total investments in affiliates

$

10,725

$

18,295

$

18,970

The following table provides summarized financial information on a combined 100% basis for our affiliates
accounted for under the equity method (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

Balance sheet data:
Current assets
Long-term assets

2004

$

Total assets

$

13,450
129,699

2002

$

29,597
226,697

101,756

143,149

256,294

Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities

6,080
66,995

5,802
86,819

25,483
223,305

Total liabilities

73,075

92,621

248,788

Net assets
Earnings data:
Revenue
Gross profit
Earnings before taxes
Net income
7.

13,795
87,961

2003

$

28,681

$

50,528

$

7,506

$

138,222
73,828
60,301
60,301

$

124,547
9,034
101,542
101,542

$

553,661
52,701
22,005
14,877

P R O P E RT Y A N D E Q U I P M E N T ( I N T H O U S A N D S )

December 31,

Land
Quarry property
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Office furniture and equipment

2004

$

53,974
101,545
78,350
700,290
17,478

2003

$

951,637
575,440

Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization
$

376,197

53,583
75,329
64,276
693,657
13,926
900,771
556,037

$

344,734
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We have recorded liabilities associated with our legally required obligations to reclaim owned and leased quarry
property and related facilities in accordance with SFAS 143. A reconciliation of these asset retirement obligations
since adoption of SFAS 143 is as follows:
December 31,

2004

2003

Beginning balance
Reclamation liability prior to adoption of SFAS 143
Impact of adoption of SFAS 143
Liabilities incurred and revisions to estimates
Liabilities settled
Accretion

$

5,557
—
—
5,847
(329)
421

$

—
3,023
2,771
—
(613)
376

Ending balance

$

11,496

$

5,557

8.

I N TA N G I B L E A S S E T S

The following table indicates the allocation of goodwill by reportable segment which is included in other assets on
our consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
December 31,

2004

Goodwill by segment:
Heavy Construction Division
Branch Division
Total goodwill

2003

$

18,011
9,900

$

18,011
1,056

$

27,911

$

19,067

The increase in goodwill during 2004 was primarily related to our purchase of Wilder Construction Company
common stock (see Note 17).
The following intangible assets are included in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
Gross
value

Accumulated
amortization

$

1,139
2,000
1,425
622

$

(781)
(494)
(361)
(580)

$

358
1,506
1,064
42

$

5,186

$

(2,216)

$

2,970

December 31, 2004

Amortized intangible assets:
Covenants not to compete
Permits
Tradenames
Other
Total amortized intangible assets

Net
value
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Gross
value

Accumulated
amortization

$

1,249
2,000
1,602
900
622

$

(674)
(361)
(991)
(900)
(188)

$

575
1,639
611
—
434

$

6,373

$

(3,114)

$

3,259

December 31, 2004

Amortized intangible assets:
Covenants not to compete
Permits
Tradenames
Acquired contracts
Other
Total amortized intangible assets

Net
value

Aggregate amortization expense related to these intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 was $0.9 million, $1.3 million and $1.8 million, respectively. Amortization expense expected to be
recorded in the future is as follows: $607,000 in 2005, $446,000 in 2006, $352,000 in 2007, $340,000 in 2008,
$263,000 in 2009 and $962,000 thereafter.
9.

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES (IN THOUSANDS)

December 31,

Payroll and related employee benefits
Accrued insurance
Other

10.

2004

2003

$

40,053
34,795
42,519

$

42,393
29,160
29,164

$

117,367

$

100,717

LONG-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS (IN THOUSANDS)

December 31,

Senior notes payable
Bank revolving line of credit
Mortgages
Wilder subsidiary promissory notes
Other notes payable

2004

$

115,000
25,000
19,989
3,228
1,147

2003

$

164,364
15,861

Less current maturities
$

148,503

121,667
—
4,931
5,759
2,533
134,890
8,182

$

126,708

The aggregate minimum principal maturities of long-term debt for each of the five years following December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands): 2005 –
$15,861; 2006 – $49,741; 2007 – $16,244; 2008 – $19,657; 2009 – $15,655; and beyond 2009 – $47,206.

Senior notes payable in the amount of $40.0 million are due to a group of institutional holders. The notes are due
in equal annual installments from 2002 through 2010 and bear interest at 6.54% per annum. Additional senior notes
payable in the amount of $75.0 million are due to a second group of institutional holders. The notes are due in nine
equal annual installments beginning in 2005 and bear interest at 6.96% per annum. Based on the borrowing rates
currently available to us for bank loans with similar terms and average maturities, the fair value of the senior notes
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payable was approximately $126.1 million as of December 31, 2004 and $129.1 million as of December 31, 2003.
Restrictive covenants under the terms of our senior notes payable agreements include the maintenance of certain
levels of working capital and cash flow and require the maintenance of tangible net worth (as defined) of approximately
$395.4 million. We were in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2004.
On June 27, 2003, we entered into an agreement for a $100.0 million bank revolving line of credit, which allows
for unsecured borrowings for up to three years through June 27, 2006, with interest rate options. At December 31,
2004, we had $25.0 million outstanding under this agreement. Outstanding borrowings under the revolving line of
credit are at our choice of selected LIBOR rates plus a margin that is recalculated quarterly with interest payable
periodically and principal payable on June 27, 2006. The margin was 1.25% at December 31, 2004. Additionally, we
have standby letters of credit totaling $2.9 million, of which $2.7 million reduces the amount available under the line
of credit. The unused and available portion of the line of credit at December 31, 2004 was $72.3 million. Restrictive
covenants under the terms of this line of credit include the maintenance of certain financial ratios and tangible net
worth (as defined) of approximately $417.6 million. We were in compliance with these covenants at December 31,
2004. Additionally, our Wilder subsidiary has a bank revolving line of credit of $10.0 million that expires in 2006,
with borrowings collateralized by certain of Wilder’s equipment, accounts receivable, inventory and general intangibles.
Outstanding borrowings under this line are charged interest at the bank’s prime rate (5.25% as of December 31,
2004) less 1.0%. There were no amounts outstanding at December 31, 2004.
Mortgages are comprised primarily of notes incurred in connection with the purchase of property. These notes are
collateralized by the property purchased and bear interest at 4.1% to 8.8% per annum with principal and interest
payable in installments through 2034. The carrying amount of property pledged as collateral was approximately
$39.9 million at December 31, 2004.
The Wilder subsidiary promissory notes are due primarily to former Wilder employees relating to the repurchase
of Wilder stock. These notes are unsecured, bear interest at prime (5.25% at December 31, 2004) and are payable
in annual installments through March 2010. Additionally, our Wilder subsidiary has restrictive covenants (on a Wilder
stand-alone basis) under the terms of its debt agreements that include the maintenance of certain ratios of working
capital, liabilities to net worth and tangible net worth and restricts Wilder capital expenditures in excess of specified
limits. Wilder was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2004.
11.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Employee Stock Ownership Plan: Our Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) covers all employees not included
in collective bargaining agreements, except employees of our majority owned subsidiary, Wilder and certain
consolidated construction joint ventures. As of December 31, 2004, the ESOP owned 7,911,038 shares of our
common stock. Dividends on shares held by the ESOP are charged to retained earnings and all shares held by the
ESOP are treated as outstanding in computing our earnings per share.
Contributions to the ESOP are discretionary and comprise shares of our stock that were purchased on the market
and immediately contributed to the plan. Compensation cost is measured as the cost to purchase the shares
(market value on the date of purchase and contribution). Contribution expense was $2.0 million in each of the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
Profit Sharing and 401k Plan: The plan is a defined contribution plan covering all employees not included in collective
bargaining agreements, except employees of our majority owned subsidiary, Wilder and certain consolidated
construction joint ventures. Each employee can elect to have up to 15% of gross pay contributed to the 401k plan
on a before-tax basis. The plan allows for company matching and additional contributions at the discretion of
the Board of Directors.
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Our contributions to the Profit Sharing and 401k Plan for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002 were $6.2 million, $5.9 million and $5.4 million, respectively. Included in the contributions were 401k matching
contributions of $4.5 million, $4.2 million and $3.9 million, respectively.
Other: Two of our wholly owned subsidiaries, Granite Construction Company and Granite Halmar Construction
Company, Inc. and our majority owned subsidiary, Wilder, also contribute to various multi-employer pension plans
on behalf of union employees. Under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, a contributor to a multiemployer plan is liable, upon termination or withdrawal from a plan, for its proportionate share of a plan’s unfunded
vested liability. We currently have no intention of withdrawing from any of the multi-employer pension plans in
which we participate. Contributions to these plans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were
$20.5 million, $19.5 million and $19.6 million, respectively. Additionally, Wilder provides a 401k plan covering all
of its employees and a separate defined contribution plan covering employees not covered by other plans. Wilder’s
contributions under these plans totaled approximately $2.1 million, $2.0 million and $2.0 million in the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We also provide non-qualified deferred compensation plans to
certain of our highly compensated employees that provide the participants the opportunity to defer payment
of certain compensation as defined in the plan.
12.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

1999 Equity Incentive Plan: Our Amended and Restated 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) provides for the
grant of restricted common stock, incentive and nonqualified stock options, performance units and performance
shares to employees and awards to our Board of Directors in the form of stock units or stock options (“Director
Options”). A total of 4,250,000 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance under the Plan of
which approximately 2,554,000 remained available as of December 31, 2004. The exercise price for incentive and
nonqualified stock options granted to employees under the Plan may not be less than 100% and 85%, respectively,
of the fair market value at the date of the grant. The exercise price for options granted to our Directors under the
Plan is 50.0% of the market price of our common stock at the date of grant and the fair market value of the option
represents the value of the services provided in their role as Directors. Employee options granted will be exercisable
at such time and be subject to such restrictions/conditions as determined by the compensation committee and
Director Options are immediately exercisable. No option will be exercisable later than ten years from the date of
grant. Restricted common stock is issued for services to be rendered and may not be sold, transferred or pledged
for such period as determined by the compensation committee.
At December 31, 2004 there were approximately 1,163,000 restricted shares outstanding. Restricted stock
compensation cost is measured as the stock’s fair value at the date of grant. The compensation cost is recognized
ratably over the vesting period — generally three to five years. Restricted shares become fully vested when a holder
reaches age 62. An employee may not sell or otherwise transfer unvested shares and, in the event that employment
is terminated prior to the end of the vesting period, any unvested shares are surrendered to us. We have no
obligation to repurchase restricted stock. Compensation expense related to restricted shares for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $6.0 million, $6.0 million and $5.8 million, respectively.
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We granted Director Options under the Plan to purchase shares of our stock for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 at a weighted average exercise price of $11.33, $9.92, and $9.70, respectively. The options
are immediately exercisable and options for 86,748 shares remain outstanding at December 31, 2004. Director
Option transactions are summarized as follows:
December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Options outstanding, beginning of year
Options granted
Options exercised

86,063
17,151
(16,466)

55,812
35,158
(4,907)

40,187
22,877
(7,252)

Options outstanding, end of year

86,748

86,063

55,812

The fair value of each option grant was estimated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
We recognized $281,000, $330,000 and $229,000 of compensation expense related to grants of stock options in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan: During 2001, we adopted a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock
Purchase Plan (the “DRP Plan”) under which 4,500,000 shares of common stock are authorized for purchase. The
DRP Plan offers participation to record holders of common stock or other interested investors. Under the DRP Plan,
participants may buy additional shares of common stock by automatically reinvesting all or a portion of the cash
dividends paid on their shares of common stock or by making optional cash investments.
13.

W E I G H T E D AV E R A G E S H A R E S O U T S TA N D I N G

A reconciliation of the weighted average shares outstanding used in calculating basic and diluted net income per
share in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income is as follows (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
Weighted average common stock outstanding
Less weighted average restricted stock outstanding
Total
Diluted Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:
Warrants
Common stock options and units
Restricted stock
Total

2004

2003

2002

41,580
1,190

41,464
1,289

41,275
1,259

40,390

40,175

40,016

40,390

40,175

40,016

—
52
589

—
29
604

100
19
588

41,031

40,808

40,723

Restricted stock representing approximately 254,000 shares, 364,000 shares and 258,000 shares for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net
income per share because their effects are anti-dilutive.
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14.

I N C O M E TA X E S

Provision for income taxes (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

Federal:
Current
Deferred

2004

$

State:
Current
Deferred
$

28,238
(4,861)

2003

$

25,348
3,496

2002

$

28,553
(3,263)

23,377

28,844

25,290

6,107
(1,007)

5,867
593

5,263
(602)

5,100

6,460

4,661

28,477

$

35,304

$

29,951

Reconciliation of statutory to effective tax rate:
Years ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Federal statutory tax rate
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Percentage depletion deduction
Minority interest in joint ventures
Other

35.0%
3.5
(2.3)
(3.2)
(3.0)

35.0%
4.6
(1.2)
—
(2.2)

35.0%
4.3
(2.9)
—
(0.2)

30.0%

36.2%

36.2%

The impact on the effective tax rate related to minority interest in joint ventures is a result of the consolidation
of construction joint ventures as required by FIN 46 (see Note 5), which are not subject to income taxes on a
stand-alone basis.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities (in thousands):
December 31,

Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Property and equipment
Insurance
Deferred compensation
Other accrued liabilities
Contract recognition
Net operating loss carryforward
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
TIC basis difference
Other

2004

2003

$

1,262
2,664
408
131
10,721
12,701
64
4,628
(4,628)

$

1,200
2,451
522
2,963
3,577
8,545
3,377
3,439
(3,439)

$

27,951

$

22,635

$

49,492
722
860

$

38,625
1,498
4,388

$

51,074

$

44,511

The deferred tax asset for other accrued liabilities relates to various items including accrued vacation and accrued
reclamation costs which are deductible in future periods. The deferred tax liability for the TIC basis difference
represents the undistributed earnings of TIC for which income and the related tax provision have been recognized
in our records.
Our deferred tax asset for net operating loss carryforwards relates to state and local tax carryforwards for a
subsidiary, which expire between 2021 and 2024. We have provided a valuation allowance on these assets because
of uncertainty regarding their realizability due to recent losses. The increases in the carryforwards and associated
valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were a result of taxable losses generated
by the subsidiary in those years.

62 / 63

Granite Construction Incorporated 2004 Annual Report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15.

COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES

Leases: Minimum rental commitments and minimum royalty requirements under all noncancellable operating leases,
primarily quarry property and construction equipment, in effect at December 31, 2004 were (in thousands):
Years ending December 31,

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Later years (through 2046)

$

6,324
5,433
3,717
1,873
1,688
8,643

Total minimum rental commitment

$

27,678

Operating lease rental expense was $8.0 million in 2004, $10.4 million in 2003 and $8.1 million in 2002.
Litigation: Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Granite Construction Company “GCCO,” as a member of a joint venture,
Wasatch Constructors, is among a number of construction companies and the Utah Department of Transportation
that were named in a lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the District of Utah. The plaintiffs are two
independent contractor truckers who filed the lawsuit on behalf of the United States under the federal False Claims
Act seeking to recover damages and civil penalties in excess of $46.4 million.
Among other things, the plaintiffs allege that certain defendants, who were subcontractors to Wasatch, defrauded
the Government by charging Wasatch for dirt and fill material they did not provide and that Wasatch and UDOT
knowingly paid for such excess material. The plaintiffs also allege that Wasatch committed certain other acts including
providing substandard workmanship and materials; failure to comply with clean air and clean water standards and
the filing of false certifications regarding its entitlement to the payment of bonuses.
The original complaint was filed in January 1999 and the Third Amended Complaint was filed in February 2003. On
May 30, 2003, Wasatch Constructors and the coordinated defendants filed their motion to dismiss the Third Amended
Complaint. On December 23, 2003, the Court issued its order granting Wasatch Constructors and the coordinated
defendants’ motion to dismiss the Third Amended Complaint but allowed the plaintiffs one last opportunity to amend
their complaint. Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint was filed on July 12, 2004. The Company and GCCO believe
that the allegations in the lawsuit are without merit and intend to defend them vigorously.
Additionally, we are one of approximately one hundred defendants named in four California State Court lawsuits
where four plaintiffs have, by way of various causes of action, including strict products and market share liability,
alleged personal injuries caused by exposure to silica products and related materials during plaintiffs’ use or association
with sandblasting or grinding concrete. The plaintiffs in each lawsuit have categorized the defendants as equipment
defendants, respirator defendants, premises defendants and sand defendants. We have been identified as a sand
defendant, meaning a party that manufactured, supplied or distributed silica-containing products. Our preliminary
investigation reveals that we have not knowingly sold or distributed abrasive silica sand for sandblasting.
We are a party to a number of other legal proceedings and believe that the nature and number of these proceedings
are typical for a construction firm of our size and scope. Our litigation typically involves claims regarding public
liability or contract related issues. While management currently believes, after consultation with counsel, that the
ultimate outcome of these proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect
on our financial position or overall trends in results of operations, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties. Were
an unanticipated unfavorable ruling to occur, there exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on the results
of operations for the period in which the ruling occurs.
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Guarantees: As discussed in Note 5, we participate in various construction joint venture partnerships. We also
participate in various “line item” joint venture agreements under which each partner is responsible for performing
certain discrete items of the total scope of contracted work. The revenue for these discrete items is defined in the
contract with the project owner and each venture partner bears the profitability risk associated with its own work.
All partners in a line item joint venture are jointly and severally liable for completion of the total project under the
terms of the contract with the project owner. There is not a single set of books and records for a line item joint
venture. Each partner accounts for its items of work individually as it would for any self-performed contract. We
account for our portion of these contracts as a project in our accounting system and include receivables and
payables associated with our work on our balance sheet.
Although our agreements with our joint venture partners for both construction joint ventures and line item joint
ventures provide that each party will assume and pay its share of any losses resulting from a project, if one of our
partners was unable to pay its share we would be fully liable under our contract with the project owner. Circumstances
that could lead to a loss under these guarantee arrangements include a partner’s inability to contribute additional
funds to the venture in the event that the project incurred a loss or additional costs that we could incur should the
partner fail to provide the services and resources toward project completion that had been committed to in the
joint venture agreement. At December 31, 2004 approximately $385.8 million of work representing either our partners’
proportionate share or work that our partners’ are directly responsible for in line item joint ventures, had yet to be
completed. We have never incurred a loss under these joint and several liability provisions, however, it is possible
that we could in the future and such a loss could be significant.
Wilder Common Stock: Substantially all of the non-Granite held common shares of our majority-owned subsidiary,
Wilder Construction Company, are redeemable by the holders upon retirement, voluntary termination, death or
permanent disability. Approximately 53% of these shares are held by Wilder founders or non-employees and are
accounted for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity” and related pronouncements, and accordingly, the
redemption value of these shares is included in other long-term liabilities. The remaining 47% are accounted for
as stock-based compensation. Wilder generally has up to eight years to pay the redemption price following a
redemption event, as defined in its shareholder agreements, and the redemption price is adjusted each year,
primarily for the Wilder net income attributable to the shares. If all of these Wilder shares had been redeemed at the
December 31, 2004 redemption price, a payment of $17.2 million would have been required.
16.

B U S I N E S S S E G M E N T I N F O R M AT I O N

We have two reportable segments: the Branch Division and the Heavy Construction Division (“HCD”). The Branch
Division is comprised of branch offices, including our majority owned subsidiary, Wilder Construction Company,
that serve local markets, while HCD pursues major infrastructure projects throughout the nation. HCD focuses
on building larger heavy civil projects with contract durations that are frequently greater than two years, while
the Branch Division projects are typically smaller in size and shorter in duration. HCD has been the primary
participant in our construction joint ventures. Substantially all of our revenue from the sales of materials is from
the Branch Division.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies (see Note 1). We evaluate performance based on operating profit or loss (excluding gain
on sales of property and equipment), and do not include income taxes, interest income, interest expense or other
income (expense). Unallocated other corporate expenses principally comprise corporate general and administrative
expenses.
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Summarized segment information (in thousands):
HCD

2004
Revenues from external customers
Intersegment revenue transfer
Net revenue
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Operating income
Property and equipment
2003
Revenues from external customers
Intersegment revenue transfer
Net revenue
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Operating income
Property and equipment
2002
Revenues from external customers
Intersegment revenue transfer

$

$

$

Net revenue
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Operating income
Property and equipment

Branch

Total

872,812
(24,215)

$ 1,263,400
24,215

$ 2,136,212
—

848,597
14,386
8,957
47,829

1,287,615
42,581
106,016
298,223

2,136,212
56,967
114,973
346,052

702,055
(10,290)

$ 1,142,436
10,290

$ 1,844,491
—

691,765
14,185
26,246
43,505

1,152,726
47,958
91,860
281,531

1,844,491
62,143
118,106
325,036

596,243
(19,313)

$ 1,168,499
19,313

$ 1,764,742
—

576,930
12,326
19,305
43,676

1,187,812
42,537
100,165
287,145

1,764,742
54,863
119,470
330,821

Included in HCD operating income for the year ended December 31, 2004 is operating income from our newly
consolidated joint ventures of $7.1 million (see Note 5).
Reconciliation of segment operating income to consolidated totals (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

Total operating income for reportable segments
Other income
Gain on sales of property and equipment
Unallocated other corporate expenses
Income before provision for income taxes and minority interest

2004

2003

2002

$

114,973
11,372
18,566
(49,987)

$

118,106
18,240
4,714
(43,535)

$

119,470
2,494
2,128
(41,353)

$

94,924

$

97,525

$

82,739
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Reconciliation of segment assets to consolidated totals (in thousands):
December 31,

2004

Total assets for reportable segments
Assets not allocated to segments:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Other assets

$

161,627
116,065
21,012
540,462
30,145
62,591

69,919
132,066
22,421
435,442
19,698
55,828

Consolidated total assets

$ 1,277,954

$ 1,060,410

17.

346,052

2003

$

325,036

2002

$

330,821
52,032
130,662
23,056
375,907
17,142
54,199

$

983,819

ACQUISITIONS

Wilder Construction Company: In April 2000 we began purchasing shares of common stock of Wilder Construction
Company (“Wilder”). Our investment in Wilder was recorded under the equity method of accounting until April of
2002 when our interest in Wilder increased to above 50% and we began consolidating the financial position, results
of operations and cash flows of Wilder. Through December 31, 2004 we have purchased a 75% interest in Wilder
for cash totaling $36.5 million, including a $9.2 million purchase in 2004.
We have accounted for this step acquisition using the purchase method of accounting in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations.” The purchase price was allocated
to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition and the
excess purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired of $8.8 million was allocated to goodwill.
Other Acquisitions: During 2002, we purchased certain assets and assumed certain contracts and liabilities of
two northern California construction contractors and materials suppliers for cash consideration of $23.3 million and
we purchased certain assets and assumed certain contracts of a quarry operation located near Gilroy, California
for cash consideration of approximately $13.9 million. These purchases were accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting. The results of each of the acquired businesses’ operations were included in our consolidated
results from their respective acquisition dates. In each of these transactions the estimated fair value of the assets
acquired exceeded the purchase price; therefore, no goodwill was recorded.
18.

SALE OF ASSETS

In March 2004, we sold certain assets related to our ready-mix concrete business in Utah for cash of $10.0 million
and promissory notes with an estimated fair value of $8.9 million which are payable in installments through 2010.
The sale transaction resulted in the recognition of a gain of approximately $10.0 million, which is included in gain on
sales of property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS’

ELECTRONIC DEPOSIT

REGISTRAR AND

MEETING

OF DIVIDENDS

TRANSFER AGENT

Annual report and proxy statements
are mailed on or about April 15,
2005. Granite’s annual meeting of
shareholders will be held at 10:30
a.m. on May 23, 2005, at the
Embassy Suites, 1441 Canyon Del
Rey, Seaside, California.

Registered holders of our common
stock may have their quarterly
dividends deposited to their checking
or savings account free of charge.
Call Registrar and Transfer Company
at (800) 368-5948 to sign up for
this service.

Registrar and Transfer Company
10 Commerce Drive
Cranford, NJ 07016
(800) 368-5948

C O M M O N S T O C K I N F O R M AT I O N

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT AND

At March 4, 2005, there were 41.6
million shares outstanding and
approximately 964 shareholders of
record of Granite’s common stock.
On March 4, 2005, the last reported
sale of common stock was $27.46.

STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The Company expects to pay a
quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per
share of common stock payable
on April 15, 2005, to shareholders
of record as of March 31, 2005.
Declaration and payment of dividends is within the sole discretion
of the Company’s Board of Directors,
subject to limitations imposed by
Delaware law, and will depend on
the Company’s earnings, capital
requirements and financial condition
and other such factors as the Board
deems relevant.

C O M PA N Y C O N TA C T

Jacqueline Underdown
Director of Investor Relations
(831) 761-4741
Jacque.Underdown@gcinc.com

A copy of the Form 10-K, which
is filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, is available
free of charge on our website or
upon written request to:
Investor Relations
Granite Construction Incorporated
Box 50085
Watsonville, CA 95077-5085
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Ten Almaden Blvd., Suite 1600
San Jose, CA 95113
INTERNET

An electronic version of this report
can also be found on Granite’s
website, located at:
www.graniteconstruction.com

Designed and produced by AKA, Palo Alto, CA

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Plan offers both existing
registered shareholders and first-time
investors an affordable alternative
to investing in the Company,
including the ability to participate in
automatic reinvestment of dividends
to purchase additional shares of
our common stock. A prospectus
describing the details of the Plan
may be obtained by calling
Registrar and Transfer Company at
(800) 368-5948 or on their website
at www.rtco.com.

FORM 10-K

Company Locations

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION
I N C O R P O R AT E D

585 W. Beach Street
Box 50085
Watsonville, CA 95077-5085
(831) 724-1011
www.graniteconstruction.com

BRANCH DIVISION

We Build

Granite Construction
Founded in 1922, Granite Construction is one of the largest heavy-civil contractors in the United
States. Granite builds roads, bridges, dams and other transportation-related projects. In addition,
Granite is a major producer of sand, gravel, ready-mix and asphalt concrete and other road-building
and construction materials. Unique among large contractors, Granite handles both large and small
jobs through its two operating divisions, the Branch Division and the Heavy Construction Division.
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H E AV Y C O N S T R U C T I O N D I V I S I O N

Arizona

Santa Barbara

National Office

4115 E. Illinois Street
Tucson, AZ 85714
(520) 748-8000

5335 Debbie Lane
Santa Barbara, CA 93111
(805) 964-9951

585 W. Beach Street
Watsonville, CA 95076
(831) 761-7500

Bakersfield

Southern California

Texas Regional Office

3000 James Road
Bakersﬁeld, CA 93308
(661) 399-3361

38000 Monroe Street
Indio, CA 92203
(760) 775-7500

701 E. Main Street
Lewisville, TX 75057
(972) 874-8724

Bay Area

Stockton

Southeast Regional Office

715 Comstock Street
Santa Clara, CA 95054
(408) 327-7000

10500 S. Harlan Road
French Camp, CA 95231
(209) 982-4750

6215 E. Sligh Avenue
Tampa, FL 33617
(813) 623-5877

Central Valley

Utah

Western Regional Office

2716 Granite Court
Fresno, CA 93706
(559) 441-5700

100 N. Warm Springs Road
Salt Lake City, UT 84116
(801) 526-6000

282 Cousteau Place, Suite 105
Davis, CA 95616
(530) 753-7234

Monterey Bay

Granite Halmar

580 W. Beach Street
Watsonville, CA 95076
(831) 763-6100

160 W. Lincoln Avenue
Mount Vernon, NY 10550
(914) 668-9500

A F F I L I AT E S

Nevada

Wilder Construction Company

1900 Glendale Avenue
Sparks, NV 89431
(775) 358-8792

1525 East Marine View Drive
Everett, WA 98201
(425) 551-3100

Northern California

Granite Land Company

4001 Bradshaw Road
Sacramento, CA 95827
(916) 855-4400

8950 Cal Center Drive, Suite 201
Sacramento, CA 95826
(916) 362-8844

For a complete listing of all affiliates,
please visit the Company’s website at
www.graniteconstruction.com.
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